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Macquarie Group 2019 Interim Financial Report
This Interim Financial Report has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) and does not include all the notes of the type normally 
included in an annual financial report. Macquarie Group Limited’s 
(MGL and its subsidiaries, being the Consolidated Entity) most 
recent annual financial report is available at www.maquarie.com 
as part of Macquarie’s 2019 Annual Report. MGL has also released 
information to the Australian Securities Exchange operated by 
ASX Limited (ASX) in compliance with the continuous disclosure 
requirements of the ASX Listing Rules. Announcements made by 
MGL under such rules are available on ASX’s internet site  
www.asx.com.au (MGL’s ASX code is ‘MQG’).

The material in this report has been prepared by MGL 
ABN 94 122 169 279 and is current at the date of this report. 
It is general background information about Macquarie’s activities,  
is provided in summary form in terms of the requirements of 
AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and does not purport to 
be complete. It is not intended to be relied upon as advice to 
investors or potential investors and does not take into account the 
investment objectives, financial situation or needs of any particular 
investor. These should be considered with professional advice 
when deciding if an investment is appropriate.

The Interim Financial Report was authorised for issue by MGL’s 
Directors on 1 November 2019. The Board of Directors has the 
power to amend and reissue the Financial Report.

The Macquarie name and Holey Dollar device are registered 
trade marks of Macquarie Group Limited ACN 122 169 279.
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Directors
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

The Directors of MGL submit their report with the financial report of the Consolidated Entity for the 
half-year ended 30 September 2019.

Directors
At the date of this report, the Directors of Macquarie are:

Independent Directors
P.H. Warne, Chairman

G.R. Banks AO

J.R. Broadbent AC

G.M. Cairns

P.M. Coffey

M.J. Coleman

D.J. Grady AM

M.J. Hawker AM

G.R. Stevens AC

N.M. Wakefield Evans

Executive Voting Director
S.R. Wikramanayake, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

The Directors listed above each held office as a Director of Macquarie throughout the period and until the date of this report. 
Those Directors listed as Independent Directors have been independent throughout the period of their appointment.

Result
The financial report for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 and the results herein are prepared in accordance with AASB 134 Interim 
Financial Reporting and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

The consolidated profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Group Limited, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, for the period was $A1,457 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $A1,672 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: 
$A1,310 million). 

http://macquarie.com
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

Review of Group performance and financial position
Overview
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of $A1,457 million for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 increased 11% from 
$A1,310 million in the prior corresponding period(1) and decreased 13% from $A1,672 million in the prior period(2).

HALF-YEAR TO MOVEMENT

30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am % %

Net operating income 6,320 6,924 5,830 (9) 8

Operating expenses (4,480) (4,762) (4,125) (6) 9

Income tax expense (376) (505) (374) (26) 1

(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (7) 15 (21) * (67)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,457 1,672 1,310 (13) 11

* Indicates that the result was a gain in one period and a loss in another, or vice versa.

Net profit contribution(3) by activity

~60% ~40%
MARKETS-FACINGANNUITY-STYLE

Macquarie Capital

~8%

~8% ~32%
Commodities and 

Global Markets

Macquarie 
Asset Management

~39%
Banking and

Financial Services

~13%

Operating Group updates
In the current period, CAF’s(4) businesses were aligned to other Operating Groups, where they have the greatest opportunities in terms 
of shared clients and complementary offerings:
–– CAF Principal Finance joined Macquarie Capital to bring together all principal investing activity and enhance our ability to invest directly 

and alongside clients and partners
–– CAF Transportation Finance joined MAM(5), reflecting its evolution towards a fiduciary business following the sale of Macquarie 

AirFinance to a newly formed joint venture 
–– CAF Asset Finance moved to CGM(6), reflecting a longstanding, shared focus on innovative financing solutions for corporates, some 

of which are already shared clients
–– Certain fiduciary businesses, such as the infrastructure debt business (MIDIS), moved from CAF Asset Finance in the Bank Group 

to MAM in the Non-Bank Group.

In addition, the prior period included the transfer of Macquarie’s Australian vehicle finance business from CAF into BFS(7) and Macquarie 
Capital’s global real estate business moved into MAM and merged with MIRA Real Estate.

Comparatives have been reclassified to reflect the reorganisation between Operating Groups.

(1)	 Prior corresponding period (pcp) refers to the six months ended 30 September 2018.
(2)	 Prior period refers to the six months ended 31 March 2019.
(3)	 Where referenced in this document, net profit contribution is management accounting profit before unallocated corporate costs, profit share and income tax.
(4)	 Corporate and Asset Finance.
(5)	 Macquarie Asset Management.
(6)	 Commodities and Global Markets.
(7)	 Banking and Financial Services.

http://macquarie.com
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

Operating Groups
Summary of the Operating Groups’ performance for the half-year ended 30 September 2019.

Macquarie Asset Management Macquarie Capital

N
on

-B
an

ki
ng

 G
ro

up

$A1,122m µµ 32% on pcp $A223m ¶¶ 56% on pcp

–– Increased performance fees from MIRA-managed funds 
and co-investors 

–– Increased base fees primarily driven by favourable 
foreign exchange movements and investments made by 
MIRA-managed funds and mandates.

Partially offset by:
–– Higher operating expenses mainly driven by foreign exchange 

movements and the full period impact of the GLL and 
ValueInvest business acquisitions completed in the prior 
corresponding period 

–– Decreased net operating lease income driven by the disposal 
of Macquarie AirFinance to a newly formed joint venture, 
of which MAM has a 75% interest.

–– Lower fee and commission income due to lower debt capital 
markets fee income

–– Lower net interest and trading income due to reduced interest 
income from the debt portfolio 

–– Higher credit and other impairment charges due to a small 
number of underperforming investments

–– Higher operating expenses reflecting additional headcount and 
foreign exchange movements.

Partially offset by:
–– Higher net income on equity and debt investments due to asset 

realisations in Europe particularly in the green energy sector.

Banking and Financial Services Commodities and Global Markets

B
an

ki
ng

 G
ro

up

$A385m µµ 2% on pcp $A1,138m µµ 32% on pcp

–– Growth in BFS deposits, Australian loan portfolio and funds on 
platform average volumes

–– Reduced average headcount mainly due to the realignment 
of the wealth advice business to focus on the high net 
worth segment. 

Partially offset by:
–– Lower wealth management fee income associated with 

realigning the wealth advice business to focus on the high net 
worth segment 

–– Increased costs associated with investment in technology to 
support business growth and to meet regulatory requirements

–– Higher credit provisions in business banking loans and leasing.

–– Strong results across the commodities platform from increased 
client hedging activity particularly in Global Oil, North American 
Gas and Power and EMEA Gas and Power

–– Timing of income recognition on storage and transport agreements
–– Improved foreign exchange, interest rates and credit results 

driven by increased client activity across all regions
–– Improved equity trading and retail results primarily in 

Asian markets. 
Partially offset by:
–– Increased operating expenses driven by expenditure on 

upgrading technology infrastructure and increased cost of 
regulatory compliance.

For more details on the financial performance of the Operating 
Groups, see section 3.0 Segment analysis of the Management 
Discussion and Analysis available at macq.co/1H20MDA

http://macquarie.com
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
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Net operating income
Net operating income of $A6,320 million for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 increased 8% from $A5,830 million in the prior 
corresponding period. Increases in Fee and commission income, Other operating income and charges and Net interest and trading 
income was partially offset by higher Credit and Other impairment charges and lower Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures.

Key drivers included:

Net interest and trading income Fee and commission income

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

2,417 2,322 2,229

µµ 8%
on prior 

 corresponding  
period

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

2,874 2,865 2,661

µµ 8%
on prior  

corresponding  
period

–– Strong results in CGM across the commodities platform from 
increased client hedging activity particularly in Global Oil, North 
American Gas and Power and EMEA Gas and Power and timing 
of income recognition on storage and transport agreements. There 
was also a solid contribution from Agriculture, Metals and Mining 

–– Growth in BFS deposits and Australian loan portfolio average 
volumes in BFS. 

Partially offset by: 
–– Reduced contributions from North American Gas Inventory 

management and trading following a strong prior corresponding 
period in CGM

–– Lower interest income on the debt portfolio in Macquarie Capital
–– The sale of an investment in Macquarie Pacific Funding in BFS. 

–– Increased performance fees from MIRA-managed funds and 
co-investors in MAM 

–– Increased base fees primarily driven by favourable foreign 
exchange movements and investments made by MIRA-managed 
funds and mandates in MAM 

–– Increased mergers and acquisition fee income in 
Macquarie Capital. 

Partially offset by: 
–– Lower fee income from debt capital markets in Macquarie Capital 
–– Lower wealth management fee income associated with realigning 

the wealth advice business to focus on the high net worth 
segment in BFS.

Net operating lease income Share of net (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

461 489 461

—
In line with the prior 

 corresponding  
period

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

(49) (63) 7

¶¶
significantly

on prior  
corresponding  

period

–– Lower income in MAM driven by the disposal of Macquarie 
AirFinance to a newly formed joint venture with PGGM. 

Offset by: 
–– The acquisition of rotorcraft assets during the prior period in MAM
–– Higher secondary income from the Technology, Media and 

Telecoms portfolio in CGM.

–– Reduced income primarily due to investments in green energy 
projects in the development and construction phases including 
a small number of underperforming assets in Macquarie Capital

–– Reduced income from the sale of a number of underlying assets 
within equity accounted investments in MAM.

Partially offset by:
–– The share of net profits from a 75% interest in a newly formed joint 

venture following the disposal of Macquarie AirFinance in MAM.

Credit and Other impairment charges Other operating income and charges

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

(139) (476) (76)

µµ 83%
on prior  

corresponding  
period

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

756 1,787 548

µµ 38%
on prior  

corresponding  
period

–– Higher Credit impairment charges due to a small number of 
underperforming investments in Macquarie Capital. 

–– Asset realisations in Europe, particularly in the green energy 
sector in Macquarie Capital 

–– Gain on sale and reclassification of investments and the sale 
of a non-financial asset in MAM. 

Partially offset by: 
–– A change in the composition of Macquarie Capital’s investment 

portfolio including increased expenditure in relation to green 
energy projects.

http://macquarie.com
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses of $A4,480 million for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 increased 9% from $A4,125 million in the prior 
corresponding period with increases across Employment expenses, Other operating expenses and Occupancy, and Non-salary technology 
expenses, partially offset by a decrease in Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses. 

Key drivers included:

Employment expenses Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

2,776 2,763 2,454

µµ 13%
on prior 

 corresponding  
period

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

482 561 579

¶¶ 17%
on prior  

corresponding  
period

–– Higher share-based payments expense mainly driven by the 
accelerated amortisation of prior years’ equity awards to retiring 
Key Management Personnel

–– Higher performance-related profit share mainly driven by the 
overall performance of the Operating Groups 

–– Higher average headcount driven by central service groups to 
support business growth, technology projects and ongoing 
regulatory compliance

–– Unfavourable foreign exchange movements. 

–– Reductions in brokerage across equities markets in CGM

–– The sale of an investment in Macquarie Pacific Funding in BFS.

Non-salary technology expenses Other operating expenses and Occupancy

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

367 353 331

µµ 11%
on prior 

 corresponding  
period

HALF-YEAR TO

Sep 19 Mar 19 Sep 18
$Am $Am $Am

855 1,085 761

µµ 12%
on prior  

corresponding  
period

–– Higher technology expenses from investment and support of 
business growth

–– Unfavourable foreign exchange movements.

–– Increased business activity across the Consolidated Entity 

–– Unfavourable foreign exchange movements.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 of $A376 million was broadly in line with $A374 million in the prior corresponding 
period. The effective tax rate for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 was 20.5%, down from 22.2% in the prior corresponding period and 
23.2% in the prior period.

The lower effective tax rate was mainly driven by the geographic composition and nature of earnings.

Note on adoption of new Australian Accounting Standards
The September 2019 financial results reflect the adoption of AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) on 1 April 2019. As permitted by AASB 16, 
the Consolidated Entity has not restated previously reported financial periods. Refer to Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies  
in the Financial Report for details regarding the Consolidated Entity’s transition to AASB 16. 

http://macquarie.com
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Statement of financial position

Assets

Total assets of $A219.5 billion as at 30 September 2019 increased  
8% from $A203.2 billion as at 31 March 2019 primarily as a result of 
an increase in Loan assets, Trading assets, Interests in associates and 
joint ventures and Derivative assets. This increase was partially offset 
by a decrease in Held for sale assets.

Liabilities

Total liabilities of $A199.2 billion as at 30 September 2019 increased 
8% from $A184.8 billion as at 31 March 2019 primarily as a result 
of an increase in Debt issued, Borrowings, Margin money and 
settlement liabilities, Deposits and Derivative liabilities, partially offset 
by a decrease in Held for sale liabilities.

Total assets Total liabilities

AS AT

30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19
$Am $Am

 219,495  203,182 

µµ 8%
on 31 Mar 19

AS AT

30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19
$Am $Am

 199,183  184,818 

µµ 8%
on 31 Mar 19

–– Loan assets of $A85.1 billion as at 30 September 2019 increased 
8% from $A78.5 billion as at 31 March 2019 as a result of net new 
mortgage and business banking-related loans partially offset by 
net repayments in vehicle finance products in BFS

–– Trading assets of $A24.2 billion as at 30 September 2019 
increased 30% from $A18.7 billion as at 31 March 2019 following 
an increase in long equity positions and government bonds, 
together with an increase in oil inventory partially offset by the 
sale of treasury bills and corporate bonds in CGM

–– Interests in associates and joint ventures of $A8.5 billion as at 
30 September 2019 increased from $A4.2 billion recorded as at 
31 March 2019 primarily as a result of the contribution of 100% 
of Macquarie AirFinance’s net assets to a newly formed joint 
venture along with a third-party investor in which the group has 
a 75% interest

–– Derivative assets of $A18.2 billion as at 30 September 2019 
increased 26% from $A14.5 billion as at 31 March 2019 primarily 
as result of mark-to-market movements and an increase in client 
trades in commodity markets, interest rate products and foreign 
exchange derivatives in CGM

–– Held for sale assets decreased from $A9.0 billion as at 31 March 
2019 to $A0.6 billion as at 30 September 2019. The decrease 
was primarily attributable to the contribution of 100% of 
Macquarie AirFinance’s assets and liabilities to a newly formed 
joint venture, of which Macquarie’s 75% interest is accounted for 
as a part of Interests in associates and joint ventures.  

–– Debt issued of $A56.1 billion as at 30 September 2019 increased 
12% from $A50.2 billion as at 31 March 2019 primarily as a result 
of Treasury’s funding and liquidity management activities that 
included the issuance of long and short-term debt and a new 
BFS securitisation

–– Borrowings of $A14.6 billion as at 30 September 2019 increased 
57% from $A9.3 billion as at 31 March 2019 following new 
business acquisitions in Macquarie Capital, an increase in 
financing for trade volumes in energy products in CGM and an 
increase in GBP and USD funding from financial institutions

–– Margin money and settlement liabilities of $A26.7 billion as at 
30 September 2019 increased 18% from $A22.6 billion as at 
31 March 2019 primarily due to an increase in call margin placed 
by financial institutions as a result of increased client flows and 
derivative volumes, and outstanding commodity trade settlements 
in CGM

–– Increase in business and retail-related deposits contributed to the 
5% increase in Deposits from $A56.2 billion as at 31 March 2019 
to $A59.0 billion as at 30 September 2019

–– Derivative liabilities of $A14.5 billion as at 30 September 2019 
increased 15% from $A12.7 billion as at 31 March 2019 primarily 
as a result of mark-to-market movements and an increase in 
client trade volumes in energy, interest rate products and foreign 
exchange derivatives in CGM

–– Held for sale liabilities decreased from $A6.8 billion as at 31 March 
2019 to $A0.1 billion as at 30 September 2019. The decrease was 
primarily attributable to the contribution of 100% of Macquarie 
AirFinance’s assets and liabilities to a newly formed joint venture, 
of which Macquarie’s 75% interest is accounted for as a part of 
Interests in associates and joint ventures.

Total equity

AS AT

30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19
$Am $Am

 20,312  18,364 

µµ 11%
on 31 Mar 19

–– The increase in the Consolidated Entity’s equity was attributable 
to the issuance of Contributed equity of $A1.7 billion through the 
Institutional Private Placement and Share Purchase Plan, earnings of 
$A1.5 billion generated during the period, partially offset by dividends 
of $A1.2 billion, and an increase in the foreign currency and net 
investment hedge reserve of $A0.3 billion.

http://macquarie.com
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

Funding
Macquarie’s liquidity risk management framework is designed to ensure that it is able to meet its funding 
requirements as they fall due under a range of market conditions.

Macquarie has a funding base that is stable with minimal reliance on short-term wholesale funding markets. 
At 30 September 2019, Macquarie’s term assets were covered by term funding maturing beyond one year, 
stable deposits and equity.

The weighted average term to maturity of term funding maturing beyond one year (excluding equity(1) which 
is a permanent source of funding, and securitisations) was 5.1 years at 30 September 2019.

Term funding profile

Detail of drawn funding maturing beyond one year Diversity of funding source

Subordinated debt Equity and hybridsDebt

1–2 yrs 2–3 yrs 3–4 yrs 4–5 yrs 5 yrs+

$A billion

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Bonds
24%

Net trade creditors
<1%

Equity and hybrids
17%

Wholesale
issued paper

6%

Customer
deposits

40%

Other loans 1%

Structured notes 2%

Secured funding
2%

Syndicated loan 
facilities
6%

Subordinated
debt
2%

Macquarie has a liability driven approach to balance sheet management, where funding is raised prior to assets 
being taken on to the balance sheet. Since 1 April 2019, Macquarie has continued to raise term wholesale funding 
across various products and currencies.

Details of term funding raised between 1 April 2019 and 30 September 2019:

Bank 
Group

Non-Bank 
Group Total

$Ab $Ab $Ab

Secured funding Term securitisation and other secured finance 4.4 0.7 5.1

Issued paper Senior unsecured 5.2 0.1 5.3

Loan facilities MGL loan facilities – 0.4 0.4

Total 9.6 1.2 10.8

In addition to the $A10.8 billion of term funding raised, $A1.7 billion of equity capital was raised through 
$A1.0 billion institutional placement and $A0.7 billion share purchase plan.

Macquarie continued to develop its major funding markets and products during the half-year ended 
30 September 2019.

(1)	 Equity includes Macquarie Income Securities of $A0.4 billion which does not have a maturity date.

5.1
years
The weighted average 
term to maturity of 
term funding maturing 
beyond one year at 
30 September 2019.

http://macquarie.com
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Capital
As an Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) authorised and regulated Non-Operating Holding 
Company (NOHC), Macquarie’s capital adequacy framework requires it to maintain minimum regulatory capital 
requirements calculated as the sum of:
–– the Bank Group’s minimum Tier 1 capital requirement, based on a percentage of risk-weighted assets plus 

Tier 1 deductions using prevailing APRA authorised deposit-taking institution (ADI) Prudential Standards; and,
–– the Non-Bank Group’s capital requirement, calculated using Macquarie’s Board approved Economic Capital 

Adequacy Model (ECAM). Transactions internal to Macquarie are eliminated.

Macquarie remains well capitalised with APRA Basel III Group capital of $A23.8 billion at 30 September 2019, 
with a Group surplus of $A6.7 billion ($A8.6 billion on a Harmonised(1) Basel III basis). 

Under Basel III rules, APRA requires authorised deposit-taking institutions (ADIs) to have a minimum ratio of 
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.5% including the 2.5% capital conservation buffer (CCB), with at least 
7% in the form of Common Equity Tier 1 capital, per APRA ADI Prudential Standard 110(2).

In addition, APRA may impose ADI-specific minimum capital ratios which may be higher than these levels. 
The minimum BCBS Basel III leverage ratio requirement of 3% was effective from 1 January 2018(3).

As at 30 September 2019, the Bank Group had the following capital adequacy ratios:

Bank Group Basel III ratios as at 30 September 2019
Harmonised  

Basel III
APRA 

Basel III

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio 14.0% 11.4%

Tier 1 Capital Ratio 16.0% 13.3%

Leverage Ratio 6.1% 5.5%

For further information relating to the capital adequacy of Macquarie, refer to section 6.0 Capital of the 
Management Discussion and Analysis at macq.co/1H20MDA

(1)	 ‘Harmonised’ Basel III estimates are calculated in accordance with the BCBS Basel III framework.
(2)	 Based on materiality, the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB) of ~13bps has not been included.
(3)	 In November 2018, APRA released draft prudential standards on its implementation of a minimum requirement for the leverage ratio 

of 3.5% expected to be effective from January 2022.

$A6.7b
Group capital 
surplus

http://macquarie.com
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
https://www.macquarie.com/dafiles/Internet/mgl/global/shared/about/investors/results/2020/Macquarie-Group-1H20-Management-Discussion-Analysis.pdf
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

For internal reporting and risk management purposes, Macquarie is divided into four Operating Groups, 
which are supported by four Central Service Groups. The Operating Groups are split between annuity-style 
businesses and markets-facing businesses.

A summary of the Operating Groups’ performance for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 and 
medium-term outlook is provided below.

MACQUARIE’S ANNUITY-STYLE BUSINESSES

Macquarie Asset Management Banking and Financial Services

MAM is a leading specialist global asset manager, 
offering a diverse range of products through two 
business divisions:

Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets 
(MIRA): a leader in alternative asset management 
worldwide, specialising in infrastructure, 
renewables, real estate, agriculture, transportation 
finance and private credit via public and private 
funds, co-investments, partnerships and separately 
managed accounts.

Macquarie Investment Management (MIM): 
offering investment management capabilities 
across a number of asset classes including fixed 
income, equities and multi-asset solutions.

BFS serves the Australian market, and is organised 
into the following three business divisions:

Personal Banking: provides a diverse range of 
retail banking products to clients with mortgages, 
credit cards, transaction and savings accounts and 
vehicle finance. 

Wealth Management: provides clients with a wide 
range of wrap platform and cash management 
services, investment and superannuation products, 
financial advice, private banking and stockbroking.

Business Banking: provides a full range of 
deposit, lending and payment solutions, as well as 
tailored services to business clients, ranging from 
sole practitioners to corporate professional firms. 

Highlights

MAM AUM increased 2% to $A562.0 billion at 
30 September 2019 due to net investment by 
MIRA-managed funds and the positive impacts from 
foreign exchange and market movements offset by 
a reduction in contractual insurance assets in MIM. 

During the period, MIRA closed the Macquarie 
European Infrastructure Fund 6 at its hard cap of 
€6.0 billion. MIRA also continued to build out its 
alternative product offerings following the transfer of the 
infrastructure debt business and Transportation Finance 
businesses into MAM from CAF. In October 2019, MIRA 
closed Macquarie Agriculture Fund – Crop Australia at 
its hard cap of $A1.0 billion.

MIM successfully implemented the Aladdin platform in 
the Americas as part of a significant ongoing investment 
in its global operating platform. In October 2019, MIM 
completed the acquisition of the assets related to 
the mutual fund management business of Foresters 
Investment Management Company, Inc. This will add 
~$US12 billion AUM during 2H20.

Medium-term

MAM is a leading specialist global asset manager 
which is well placed to grow assets under management 
through its diversified product offering, track record and 
experienced local investment teams. 

Highlights 

For the half-year ended 30 September 2019, BFS’ 
deposits increased 5% to $A56.2 billion, the Australian 
loan and lease portfolio increased 8% to $A67.4 billion 
and funds on platform increased 6% to $A91.5 billion.

The Australian mortgage portfolio increased 13% to 
$A43.6 billion driven by strong interest in lower loan 
to value ratio and owner occupier lending tiers, while 
the Business Banking loan portfolio increased 4% 
to $A8.5 billion driven by strong activity in emerging 
segments of health, built environment and technology, 
and existing property and professional services 
segments. The Australian vehicle finance portfolio 
decreased 3% to $A14.7 billion due to declining new 
car sales nationally, lower dealer finance and run-off in 
previously acquired portfolio.

Medium-term

BFS remains focused on: strong growth opportunities 
through intermediary and direct retail client distribution, 
platforms and client service; opportunities to increase 
financial services engagement with existing business 
banking clients and extend into adjacent segments; and 
modernising technology to improve client experience 
and support growth.

Assets under management as at 30 September 2019

$A562.0 billion
Australian client numbers more than

1.5 million

http://macquarie.com
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MACQUARIE’S MARKETS-FACING BUSINESSES

Commodities and Global Markets Macquarie Capital

CGM provides clients with an integrated, 
end-to-end offering across global markets 
including equities, fixed income, foreign exchange, 
commodities and technology, media and telecoms. 
The platform covers more than 25 market 
segments with more than 200 products and has 
evolved over more than four decades to provide 
clients with access to markets, financing, financial 
hedging, research and market analysis and 
physical execution.

CGM comprises eight divisions: Cash Equities, 
Commodity Markets and Finance, Credit Markets, 
Equity Derivatives and Trading, Fixed Income and 
Currencies, Futures, Specialised and Asset Finance 
and Central (CGM-wide services).

Macquarie Capital has global capability in 
advisory and capital raising services, providing 
clients with specialist expertise, advice and 
flexible capital solutions across a range of sectors 
and investing alongside partners and clients, 
across the capital structure. It also has global 
capability in infrastructure, green and conventional 
energy, focusing on utilising its balance sheet to 
construct assets, build businesses and create 
platforms across development, construction and 
operational phases.

Highlights

Strong contribution from the commodities platform 
driven by increased client hedging activity and timing 
of income recognition on storage and transport 
agreements, improved foreign exchange, interest rates 
and credit results, partially offset by challenging market 
conditions and reduced opportunities in Cash Equities, 
and higher operating expenses.

Commodity and Financial Markets was named Natural 
Gas/LNG House of the Year in the 2019 Energy Risk 
Awards and maintained its ranking by Platts as No. 2 
physical gas marketer in North America.

Medium-term

CGM remains focused on: opportunities to grow the 
commodities business, both organically and through 
acquisition; the development of institutional and 
corporate coverage for specialised credit, rates and 
foreign exchange products; providing tailored financing 
solutions across a variety of industries and asset 
classes; growing the client base across all regions; 
leveraging a strong market position in Asia-Pacific 
through investment in the equities platform and 
continued investment in the asset finance portfolio.

Highlights

Macquarie Capital maintained the leading market 
position globally for infrastructure financial advisory and 
a leading market position in ANZ for M&A. Notable deals 
included advising DuluxGroup on its acquisition by 
Nippon Paint Holdings Co for an enterprise value of 
$A4.2 billion. Balance sheet activity included Macquarie 
and its co-investors supporting Dovel Technologies in 
its acquisition of Ace Info Solutions. Dovel Technologies 
is a leading technology solutions provider to federal 
agencies in the health IT, life sciences, and grants 
management markets.

In Infrastructure and Energy investments, Macquarie 
Capital continued to focus on green energy with over 
250 projects under development or construction as 
at 30 September 2019. Notable deals included the 
acquisition by GIG of a 40% stake in the 714MW 
East Anglia ONE offshore wind farm from Iberdrola/
ScottishPower Renewables. The project is in 
construction and will be one of the world’s largest 
offshore wind farms when it commences full operations 
in mid-2020, supplying clean energy to around 600,000 
British households.

Medium-term

Macquarie Capital is positioned to benefit from any 
improvement in M&A and capital markets activity. 
It continues to tailor the business offering to current 
opportunities, market conditions and strengths in 
each sector and region. It also continues to pursue 
opportunities for project development and balance 
sheet investment by the group and in support of 
partners and clients subject to market conditions.

Ranked by Platts Advised on 181 transactions valued at

No.2 Physical Gas Marketer in  
North America in Q2 CY19 $A154 billion during half-year ended 

30 September 2019

For more details on the 
financial performance of 
the Operating Groups, 
see section 3.0 Segment 
analysis of the Management 
Discussion and Analysis 
available at macq.co/ 
1H20MDA

For more details on the 
operational performance 
of the Operating Groups, 
see slides of the Investors 
presentation available at  
macq.co/ 
1H20investorpresentation

http://macquarie.com
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Operating and financial review
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

Our purpose

Macquarie’s purpose is 
to realise opportunity for 
the benefit of our clients, 
shareholders and people. 
We are in business to be 
profitable and to achieve 
an appropriate and resilient 
long-term return on capital. 
Ultimately though, it is the 
way we do business that 
defines Macquarie.

What  
We  
Stand  
For
Opportunity, Accountability and 
Integrity. These long-held principles 
form the basis of Macquarie’s 
expectations of our staff and adherence 
to them is required under the 
Code of Conduct.

The balance between opportunity 
and accountability, while operating 
with integrity within a strong risk 
management framework, is a feature of 
Macquarie’s success and a key factor in 
our long record of unbroken profitability.

The Code of Conduct is available at 
macquarie.com/what-we-stand-for

Our business strategy

Consistent with our What We Stand For principles, Macquarie’s 
business strategy is focused on the medium-term with the 
following key aspects:

Risk management approach 
Adopting a conservative approach to risk management underpinned by a sound 
risk culture. Macquarie’s robust risk management framework and risk culture is 
embedded across all Operating and Central Service Groups. 

Strong balance sheet
Maintaining a strong and conservative balance sheet. 

This is consistent with Macquarie’s longstanding policy of holding a level of 
capital which supports its business and managing its capital base ahead of 
ordinary business requirements. Macquarie remains well funded, with diversified 
funding sources, including deposits. 

We continue to pursue the strategy of diversifying funding sources by growing our 
deposit base and accessing different funding markets.

Business mix 

Conducting a mix of annuity-style and markets-facing businesses that deliver 
solid returns in a range of market conditions. 

Macquarie has progressively developed its annuity-style businesses, providing 
steady returns to the business and our shareholders, and stability to clients. 

Diversification

Operating a diversified set of businesses across different locations and service 
offerings: asset management and finance, banking, advisory and risk and capital 
solutions across debt, equity and commodities. 

Macquarie offers a range of services to government, institutional, corporate and 
retail clients. This diversity mitigates concentration risk and provides resilience 
to Macquarie.

Proven expertise
Utilising proven deep expertise has allowed Macquarie to establish leading market 
positions as a global specialist in sectors including renewables, infrastructure, 
resources and commodities, energy, financial institutions and real estate.

Adjacencies 
Expanding progressively by pursuing adjacencies through organic opportunities 
and selective acquisitions. 

These include products and geographies adjacent to our established areas of 
expertise. This results in sustainable evolutionary growth.

Pursuit of growth opportunities

Targeting continued evolution and growth through innovation. We start with 
knowledge and skill, and we encourage ingenuity and entrepreneurial spirit 
coupled with accountability. 

Ideas for new businesses are typically generated in the Operating Groups. 
Additionally, there are no specific businesses, markets or regions in which our 
strategy dictates that we operate. This means that we retain operational flexibility 
and can adapt the portfolio mix to changing market conditions within the 
boundaries of the Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) approved by the Board.

http://macquarie.com
http://macquarie.com/what-we-stand-for 
http://macquarie.com/what-we-stand-for
http://macquarie.com/what-we-stand-for
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Outlook
While the impact of future market conditions makes forecasting 
difficult, we continue to expect the Group’s result for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2020 to be slightly down on the financial 
year ended 31 March 2019.

Macquarie’s short-term outlook remains subject to a range  
of factors including: the completion rate of transactions and  
period-end reviews; market conditions; the impact of foreign 
exchange; potential regulatory changes and tax uncertainties; 
and the geographic composition of income.

Macquarie remains well positioned to deliver superior 
performance in the medium-term due to its deep expertise in 
major markets, strength in business and geographic diversity and 
ability to adapt its portfolio mix to changing market conditions, the 
ongoing program to identify cost saving initiatives and efficiency, 
a strong and conservative balance sheet and a proven risk 
management framework and culture.

Events after the reporting date
There were no material events subsequent to 30 September 2019 
that have not been reflected elsewhere in the financial statements.

Interim dividend
The Directors have resolved to pay an interim dividend for the  
half-year ended 30 September 2019 of $A2.50 per fully paid 
ordinary MGL share on issue at 12 November 2019.

The dividend will be 40% franked and paid on 18 December 2019.

Rounding of amounts
In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, amounts in the Directors’ 
Report and the Interim Financial Report have been rounded off 
to the nearest million dollars unless otherwise indicated.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Peter Warne
Independent Director and Chairman

Shemara Wikramanayake
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Sydney
1 November 2019

http://macquarie.com
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Auditor’s independence declaration
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

As lead auditor for the review of Macquarie Group Limited for the 
half-year ended 30 September 2019, I declare that to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been:
–– no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of 

the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) in relation to the review; and
–– no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 

conduct in relation to the review.

This declaration is in respect of Macquarie Group Limited and the 
entities it controlled during the period.

Kristin Stubbins
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Sydney
1 November 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 2001  
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability is limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

http://macquarie.com
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to 
30 Sep 19(1) 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

Notes $m $m $m

Interest and similar income

Effective interest rate method 2 2,171 2,261 2,350

Other 2 377 407 337

Interest and similar expense 2 (1,758) (1,906) (1,689)

Net interest income 790 762 998

Fee and commission income 2 2,874 2,865 2,661

Net trading income 2 1,627 1,560 1,231

Net operating lease income 2 461 489 461

Share of net (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures 2 (49) (63) 7

Credit impairment charges 2 (144) (276) (44)

Other impairment reversal/(charges) 2 5 (200) (32)

Other operating income and charges 2 756 1,787 548

Net operating income 6,320 6,924 5,830

Employment expenses 2 (2,776) (2,763) (2,454)

Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses 2 (482) (561) (579)

Occupancy expenses 2 (201) (234) (207)

Non-salary technology expenses 2 (367) (353) (331)

Other operating expenses 2 (654) (851) (554)

Total operating expenses (4,480) (4,762) (4,125)

Operating profit before income tax 1,840 2,162 1,705

Income tax expense 4 (376) (505) (374)

Profit after income tax 1,464 1,657 1,331

(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests:

Macquarie Income Securities 20 (6) (8) (7)

Other non-controlling interests (1) 23 (14)

Total (profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (7) 15 (21)

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
Macquarie Group Limited 1,457 1,672 1,310

Cents  
per share

Cents 
 per share

Cents  
per share

Basic earnings per share 6 430.1 494.5 388.3

Diluted earnings per share 6 419.5 483.9 383.1

The above consolidated income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(1)	 The September 2019 financial results reflect the adoption of AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) on 1 April 2019. As permitted by the standard, the Consolidated Entity 
has not restated the comparative financial reporting periods. Refer Note 1 for the impact on initial adoption of AASB 16.

Consolidated income statement
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

http://macquarie.com
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to 
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

Notes $m $m $m

Profit after income tax 1,464 1,657 1,331

Other comprehensive income/(loss)(1):

Movements in items that may be subsequently reclassified to the 
income statement:

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) reserve:

Revaluation movement recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI) 20 84 (97) (17)

Change in allowance for expected credit losses 20 (58) 46 6

Cash flow hedges, net movement recognised in OCI:

Revaluation movement 20 (57) (82) (1)

Transferred to income statement 20 28 13 12

Share of other comprehensive losses of associates and 
joint ventures 20 (44) (15) (17)

Exchange differences on translation and hedge of 
foreign operations 338 114 308

Movements in items that will not be subsequently reclassified to the 
income statement:

Fair value (loss)/gain attributable to own credit risk on debt that is 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss 20 (20) 18 (12)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 271 (3) 279

Total comprehensive income 1,735 1,654 1,610

Total comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to 
non-controlling interests:

Macquarie Income Securities (6) (8) (7)

Other non-controlling interests (11) 20 16

Total comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to 
non-controlling interests (17) 12 9

Total comprehensive income attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of Macquarie Group Limited 1,718 1,666 1,619

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(1)	 All items are net of tax, where applicable.

http://macquarie.com
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As at As at As at 
30 Sep 19(1) 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

Notes $m $m $m

Assets

Cash and bank balances 9,579 9,787 9,625

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements 30,201 29,348 27,837

Trading assets 7 24,230 18,670 20,158

Margin money and settlement assets 8 20,312 19,111 20,703

Derivative assets 18,221 14,457 18,115

Financial investments 9 7,937 7,161 6,633

Held for sale assets 10 608 9,023 2,153

Other assets 10 5,625 5,169 5,248

Loan assets 11 85,066 78,474 76,953

Property, plant and equipment 13 5,471 4,701 11,361

Interests in associates and joint ventures 14 8,500 4,219 4,143

Intangible assets 2,666 2,031 1,894

Deferred tax assets 1,079 1,031 775

Total assets 219,495 203,182 205,598

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements 5,803 4,838 6,916

Trading liabilities 15 8,146 8,108 7,197

Margin money and settlement liabilities 16 26,683 22,576 24,902

Derivative liabilities 14,514 12,666 18,205

Deposits 59,042 56,191 52,620

Held for sale liabilities 17 94 6,809 504

Other liabilities 17 6,662 6,736 6,411

Borrowings 14,626 9,318 13,336

Debt issued 18 56,070 50,188 51,665

Deferred tax liabilities 297 425 800

Total liabilities excluding loan capital 191,937 177,855 182,556

Loan capital 7,246 6,963 5,883

Total liabilities 199,183 184,818 188,439

Net assets 20,312 18,364 17,159

Equity

Contributed equity 19 7,721 6,181 6,144

Reserves 20 1,927 1,773 1,567

Retained earnings 20 9,969 9,807 8,849

Total capital and reserves attributable to the ordinary 
equity holders of Macquarie Group Limited 19,617 17,761 16,560

Non-controlling interests 20 695 603 599

Total equity 20,312 18,364 17,159

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(1)	 The September 2019 financial position reflects the adoption of AASB 16 on 1 April 2019. As permitted by the standard, the Consolidated Entity has not restated 
the comparative financial reporting periods. Refer Note 1 for the impact on initial adoption of AASB 16.

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 30 September 2019
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 6,243 1,351 8,651 16,245 1,807 18,052

Profit after income tax – – 1,310 1,310 21 1,331

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax – 321 (12) 309 (30) 279

Total comprehensive income/(loss) – 321 1,298 1,619 (9) 1,610

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity 
as ordinary equity holders:

Dividends paid 5,20 – – (1,089) (1,089) – (1,089)

Purchase of shares by MEREP Trust 19 (454) – – (454) – (454)

Non-controlling interests:

Change in non-controlling ownership interests – – (11) (11) (1,136) (1,147)

Dividends and distributions paid or provided for – – – – (63) (63)

Other equity movements

MEREP expense 20 – 227 – 227 – 227

Additional deferred tax benefit on 
MEREP expense 20 – 21 – 21 – 21

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based 
payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards 19,20 331 (331) – – – –

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on 
MEREP expense from share-based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP Awards 19,20 25 (25) – – – –

Transfer from other liabilities on vesting of cash 
settled MEREP awards settled through equity 19 2 – – 2 – 2

Transfer from share-based payments 
capital reduction reserve on vested and 
forfeited awards 19,20 (3) 3 – – – –

(99) (105) (1,100) (1,304) (1,199) (2,503)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 6,144 1,567 8,849 16,560 599 17,159

http://macquarie.com
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Contributed 
equity Reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Notes $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 6,144 1,567 8,849 16,560 599 17,159

Profit after income tax – – 1,672 1,672 (15) 1,657

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax – (24) 18 (6) 3 (3)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income – (24) 1,690 1,666 (12) 1,654

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as 
ordinary equity holders:

Dividends paid 5,20 – – (730) (730) – (730)

Non-controlling interests:

Change in non-controlling ownership interests – – (2) (2) 58 56

Dividends and distributions paid or provided for – – – – (42) (42)

Other equity movements:

MEREP expense 20 – 264 – 264 – 264

Additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense 20 – 3 – 3 – 3

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based 
payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards 19,20 39 (39) – – – –

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on 
MEREP expense from share-based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP awards 19,20 (2) 2 – – – –

37 230 (732) (465) 16 (449)

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 6,181 1,773 9,807 17,761 603 18,364

Change on initial application of AASB 16 1 – – (49) (49) – (49)

Restated balance as at 1 Apr 2019 6,181 1,773 9,758 17,712 603 18,315

Profit after income tax – – 1,457 1,457 7 1,464

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax – 281 (20) 261 10 271

Total comprehensive income – 281 1,437 1,718 17 1,735

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as 
ordinary equity holders:

Issue of shares 19 1,670 – – 1,670 – 1,670

Dividends paid 5,20 – – (1,224) (1,224) – (1,224)

Purchase of shares by MEREP Trust 19 (607) – – (607) – (607)

Non-controlling interests:

Change in non-controlling ownership interests – – (2) (2) 81 79

Dividends and distributions paid or provided for – – – – (6) (6)

Other equity movements:

MEREP expense 20 – 336 – 336 – 336

Additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense 20 – 14 – 14 – 14

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based 
payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards 19,20 448 (448) – – – –

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on 
MEREP expense from share based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP awards 19,20 31 (31) – – – –

Transfer from share-based payments capital 
reduction reserve on vested and forfeited awards 19,20 (2) 2 – – – –

1,540 (127) (1,226) 187 75 262

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 7,721 1,927 9,969 19,617 695 20,312

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to 
30 Sep 19(1) 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

Notes $m $m $m

Cash flows generated from/(utilised in) operating activities

Interest and similar income received 2,538 2,672 2,690

Interest and similar expenses paid(1) (1,794) (1,878) (1,669)

Fees and other non-interest income received 2,557 2,659 2,406

Fees and commissions paid (485) (639) (451)

Operating lease income received 973 1,621 1,098

Dividends and distributions received 143 151 158

Employment expenses paid (3,077) (1,663) (2,753)

Operating expenses paid(1) (1,085) (727) (830)

Income tax paid (613) (713) (448)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Net movement in loan assets (6,338) (1,104) (3,101)

Net movement in assets under operating lease (328) (1,111) (557)

Net movement in deposits 2,802 3,499 4,218

Net movement in borrowings 4,924 788 3,887

Net movement in debt issued 4,078 (2,309) (6,076)

Net movement in trading assets and liabilities (1,802) (3,086) 4,162

Net movement in other assets and liabilities(1) (232) 83 (209)

Life business:

Life investment linked contract premiums received, disposal of 
investment assets and other unitholder contributions 174 715 611

Life investment linked contract payments, acquisition of 
investment assets and other unitholder redemptions (173) (718) (612)

Net cash flows generated from/(utilised in) operating activities 21 2,262 (1,760) 2,524

Cash flows (utilised in)/generated from investing activities

Net (payments for)/proceeds from financial investments (627) (91) 764

Proceeds from the disposal of or capital return from associates, 
subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash deconsolidated 679 3,007 1,791

Payments for the acquisition of/capital contribution in associates, 
subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash acquired (3,418) (1,152) (1,285)

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
and intangible assets 12 – 6

Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and other assets (584) (65) (574)

Net cash flows (utilised in)/generated from investing activities (3,938) 1,699 702

Cash flows generated from/(utilised in) financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares 1,670 – –

Receipt from/(payments to) non-controlling interests 216 (65) (71)

Proceeds from the issue of loan capital – 887 670

Payments on redemption of loan capital – – (270)

Dividends and distributions paid (1,231) (739) (1,096)

Payments for the acquisition of treasury shares (607) – (454)

Net cash flows generated from/(utilised in) financing activities 48 83 (1,221)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,628) 22 2,005

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 14,128 14,106 12,101

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 21 12,500 14,128 14,106

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(1)	 The September 2019 financial results reflect the adoption of AASB 16 on 1 April 2019. As permitted by AASB 16, the Consolidated Entity has not restated the 
comparative financial reporting periods. Refer Note 1 for the impact on initial adoption of AASB 16.
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Note 1 
Summary of significant accounting policies

(i) Basis of preparation

This general purpose interim set of financial statements for 
the half-year reporting period ended 30 September 2019 has 
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting. Compliance 
with AASB 134 ensures compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standard IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

This interim set of financial statements comprises the consolidated 
financial report of Macquarie Group Limited (MGL or the 
Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during 
the period (the Consolidated Entity).

This interim set of financial statements does not include all 
the disclosures of the type that is normally included in the 
Consolidated Entity’s annual financial report. Accordingly, this 
report is to be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Entity’s 
annual financial report for the year ended 31 March 2019 and any 
public announcements made by the Consolidated Entity during 
the half-year reporting period in accordance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements.

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, amounts in the Directors’ 
Report and the interim set of financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest million Australian dollars ($) unless 
otherwise indicated.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim 
set of financial statements are consistent with those adopted and 
disclosed in the Consolidated Entity’s annual financial report for 
the year ended 31 March 2019, other than where disclosed and 
with the exception of changes in accounting policies required 
following the adoption of new accounting standards on 1 April 
2019. Changes to the Consolidated Entity’s key accounting policies 
during the period are described in this report in the section titled 
‘New Australian Accounting Standards and amendments to 
Accounting Standards that are effective in the current period’.

Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements
The preparation of this interim set of financial statements in 
conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise judgement in the process of applying 
the accounting policies.

Areas of estimation uncertainty and the basis of key judgements 
applied by management in preparing the interim set of financial 
statements are consistent with those that were applied and 
disclosed in the annual financial report for the year ended 
31 March 2019 other than an additional area of judgement in 
relation to future cash flow forecasts for the application of hedge 
accounting, principally as a result of the impact of IBOR reform 
on the Consolidated Entity’s hedge accounting relationships 
(refer ‘New Australian Accounting Standards and amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not 
yet effective for the reporting period’ for further information).

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events.

Management believes that the estimates used in preparing the 
financial report are reasonable. Actual results in the future may 
differ from those reported and it is therefore reasonably possible, 
on the basis of existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next 
financial period that are different from the Consolidated Entity’s 
assumptions and estimates could require an adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of the reported assets and liabilities.

New Australian Accounting Standards and amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
that are not yet effective for the reporting period

I. �Revised AASB Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting

The AASB’s revised Conceptual Framework (AASB Framework), 
which is the Australian equivalent of the revised IFRS Conceptual 
Framework issued by the IASB, is effective for the Consolidated 
Entity’s annual financial reporting period beginning on 1 April 2020. 

The main purpose of the AASB Framework is to assist the AASB 
in developing accounting standards and to assist financial report 
preparers to develop consistent accounting policies when there 
is no specific or similar standard that addresses an issue.

The AASB Framework includes amendments to the definition and 
recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses, 
guidance on measurement and derecognition, and other relevant 
financial reporting concepts.

Following an initial assessment, the application of the AASB 
Framework is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial statements.

II. �IBOR reform: Transition from inter-bank offered rates 
(IBOR) to alternative reference rates (ARRs)

Background

IBOR are interest rate benchmarks that are used in a wide 
variety of financial instruments such as derivatives and lending 
arrangements. Examples of IBOR include ‘LIBOR’ (the London 
Inter-bank Offered Rate) and ‘EURIBOR’ (the Euro Inter-bank 
Offered Rate). Each IBOR is calculated and published daily 
based on submissions by a panel of banks. Over time, changes 
in interbank funding markets have meant that IBOR panel bank 
submissions have become based less on observable transactions, 
and more on expert judgment. Financial markets authorities 
reviewed what these changes meant for financial stability, 
culminating in recommendations to reform major interest rate 
benchmarks. As a result of these recommendations, many IBOR 
around the world are undergoing reforms and some, including 
LIBOR, are being replaced with alternative reference rates (ARRs). 
The UK Financial Conduct Authority (the regulator of LIBOR) has 
confirmed that it will no longer compel or persuade panel banks to 
submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR beyond the end of 2021. 
As such, there can be no guarantee that LIBOR will be determined 
after 2021 on the same basis as at present, if at all.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019
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Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies continued

(i) Basis of preparation continued

As a diversified financial services group with a variety of global 
products and services, IBOR reforms, including the transition from 
LIBOR to ARRs are important changes for the Consolidated Entity. 

The Consolidated Entity’s IBOR project 

During 2018, the Consolidated Entity initiated a project, which 
is sponsored by its Chief Financial Officer (CFO), to manage 
the impacts of IBOR reform, including overseeing the transition 
from LIBOR to ARRs. A group-wide steering committee was 
established with its key responsibility being the governance of 
the project. This committee includes senior executives from the 
Consolidated Entity’s Operating Groups, Financial Management 
Group (FMG), Risk Management Group (RMG), Corporate 
Operations Group (COG) and Legal and Governance team.

The Consolidated Entity is conducting a detailed analysis of 
its use of LIBOR across existing and new legal agreements, 
systems, models and processes. The project’s scope includes 
assessing the impact on clients and the continued monitoring of 
market developments with respect to the transition from LIBOR to 
ARRs, including any changes to accounting standards and other 
regulator activity. The project’s scope also includes identification 
of the impact of the reform on separate legal entities within the 
Consolidated Entity, including those entities that are subject to 
separate regulatory requirements and oversight.

Impact on hedge accounting 

Management continues to exercise its judgement to determine 
that certain hedge relationships continue to qualify for hedge 
accounting despite the uncertainty arising from IBOR reform. 
Impacted hedge relationships include those that hedge the 
variability of cash flows (cash flow hedges) and fixed interest 
rate risk (fair value hedges) due to changes in USD LIBOR and 
GBP LIBOR, being the most significant interest rate benchmarks 
to which the Consolidated Entity’s hedging relationships are 
exposed. These judgements are supported by the recent 
publication of AASB 2019–3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards Interest Rate Benchmark Reform. 
The amendments provide certain temporary relief enabling 
the continuation of hedge accounting during the period of 
uncertainty prior to IBOR transition. Whilst the amendments are 
mandatorily effective for annual reporting period beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020, the Consolidated Entity will consider early 
adoption of the requirements. 

Other impacts on financial reporting 

The IASB has also commenced its project to address the 
accounting issues that will arise following transition to ARRs. 
These issues include providing guidance on the accounting for 
the contractual amendments necessary to facilitate the transition, 
further guidance on hedge accounting relating to post-transition 
issues, as well as additional quantitative and qualitative disclosure 
requirements. This guidance is expected to be published during 
2020. The Consolidated Entity will continue to monitor these 
developments to determine the impact thereof on its project and 
its financial reports.

New Australian Accounting Standards and amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards that are effective in 
the current period

I. �AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 replaced AASB 117 Leases (AASB 117) for the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial year commencing on 1 April 2019. 
Subject to certain exceptions, contracts that are leases within 
the scope of AASB 16 from the lessee’s perspective require the 
recognition of a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a related lease 
liability. The classification of leases where the Consolidated Entity 
is a lessor remains unchanged under AASB 16.

(1) �Transition

The Consolidated Entity has applied AASB 16 from 1 April 2019 
using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues 
to be reported under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease. The resultant 
reclassifications and adjustments arising upon transition to the 
new standard have been recognised in the opening balance sheet 
on 1 April 2019. 

For leases of office space, a transition adjustment was recognised 
as an adjustment to the Consolidated Entity’s retained earnings at 
1 April 2019 for leases where the Consolidated Entity measured 
the ROU asset as if AASB 16 had always been applied. For other 
leases, the ROU asset was measured based on the lease liability 
as at the transition date.

At transition, the Consolidated Entity recognised lease liabilities 
of $949 million as a part of other liabilities and ROU assets of 
$737 million as a part of property, plant and equipment. After 
adjusting related amounts previously recorded on the balance 
sheet, this resulted in a reduction to retained earnings of 
$49 million (post tax). As permitted by AASB 16 the transition 
adjustment has been determined by the Consolidated Entity by 
electing practical expedients to not recognise short-term or low 
value leases on its statement of financial position at the transition 
date. Judgement has been applied by the Consolidated Entity 
in determining the transition adjustment which includes the 
determination of which contractual arrangements represent a 
lease, the period over which the lease exists, the incremental 
borrowing rate of the lessee entities within the Macquarie Group, 
and the variability of future cash flows. 
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Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies continued

(i) Basis of preparation continued

The table below presents a reconciliation of the operating lease 
commitments as disclosed in the Consolidated Entity’s 31 March 
2019 financial statements, to the lease liabilities recognised on 
the transition date: 

CONSOLIDATED 
2019 

Particulars  $m

Operating lease commitments 
disclosed as at 31 March 2019  1,118

Add: Technology assets not recognised 
as a lease under previous Accounting 
Standard (AASB 117) 16

(Less): Lease executed but not yet 
effective on transition date (94)

(Less): Impact of discounting the future 
lease cash flows at the incremental 
borrowing rate of each lessee (weighted 
average rate of 3.13%) (91)

Lease liability recognised as at 
1 April 2019  949

(2) �Amendment to accounting policy following the adoption of 
AASB 16 on 1 April 2019 

At the inception of a contract, the Consolidated Entity assesses 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 

At inception, or on reassessment of a contract that contains 
a lease component, the Consolidated Entity will allocate the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component unless 
an election is made to account for the lease and non-lease 
components as a single lease component.

a. Accounting where the Consolidated Entity is the lessee 

The Consolidated entity leases corporate buildings, commodity 
storage facilities, technology and other equipment for which 
contracts are typically entered into for fixed periods and may 
include extension options. Leases are recognised as a ROU 
asset and a corresponding liability at the commencement 
date, being the date the leased asset is available for use by the 
Consolidated Entity. 

Lease liability 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest expense is recognised as part of ‘interest 
and similar expense’ in the income statement over the lease 
period on the remaining lease liability balance for each period. 
Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, changes 
in the estimated amount payable under a residual value guarantee, 
or changes in cash flows associated with purchase, extension or 
termination options. 

When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying value of the ROU asset, or, in 
the income statement, where the carrying value of the ROU asset 
has been fully written down.

Right-of-use asset

ROU assets are measured at cost and comprise of the amount 
that corresponds to the amount recognised for the lease 
liability on initial recognition together with any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date (less any lease 
incentives received), initial direct costs and restoration-related 
costs. The ROU asset is depreciated over the lease term on a 
straight‑line basis. The depreciation charge relating to corporate 
building leases is presented as part of ‘occupancy expenses’ 
while depreciation relating to leases entered into by trading-related 
business is presented as part of net trading income in the 
income statement. The Consolidated Entity does not recognise a 
ROU asset for short-term or low value leases, instead the expense 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as part of 
‘operating expenses’ in the income statement. 

Presentation 

The Consolidated Entity presents ROU assets in ‘property, 
plant and equipment’ (refer Note 13) and lease liabilities in ‘other 
liabilities’ (refer Note 17) in the statement of financial position.

b. Accounting where the Consolidated Entity is a lessor

The accounting policies where the Consolidated Entity is a lessor 
are consistent with those that were applied and disclosed in the 
annual financial report for the year ended 31 March 2019.

When the Consolidated Entity is an intermediate lessor, 
it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease 
separately. The lease classification of the sublease is determined 
with reference to the ROU asset arising from the head lease.

II. �AASB Interpretation 23 (Interpretation 23) Uncertainty 
over Income Tax Treatment

Interpretation 23 clarified the application of the recognition and 
measurement criteria in AASB 112 Income Taxes (AASB 112) 
where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments and 
requires an assessment of each uncertain tax position as to 
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept the 
position. Where it is not probable, the effect of the uncertainty 
is reflected in determining the relevant taxable profit or loss, tax 
bases, unused tax losses and unused tax credits or tax rates. 
The amount is determined as either the single most likely amount 
or the sum of the probability weighted amounts in a range of 
possible outcomes, whichever better predicts the resolution of 
the uncertainty. Judgements are reassessed as and when new 
facts and circumstances are presented.
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Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies continued

(i) Basis of preparation continued

Interpretation 23 is effective for the Consolidated Entity’s 
annual financial reporting period beginning on 1 April 2019. 
The Consolidated Entity’s existing recognition and measurement 
accounting policies, together with accounting related judgements, 
were in alignment with those required by Interpretation 23 and 
hence no transition adjustment to retained earnings was required. 
On adoption of Interpretation 23 the Consolidated Entity has 
amended the presentation of its uncertain tax positions by 
increasing its opening income tax payable to $589 million with 
an offsetting decrease in deferred tax liabilities to $249 million. 
The Consolidated Entity has not restated the comparative financial 
reporting periods. 

III. �AASB 123 Borrowing costs
An amendment to AASB 123 Borrowing costs (AASB 123) 
clarified that, to the extent an entity borrows funds generally and 
uses them for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the 
entity shall determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures 
on that asset. The capitalisation rate shall be the weighted average 
of the borrowing costs applicable to all borrowings of the entity 
that are outstanding during the period. Borrowing costs applicable 
to borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a 
qualifying asset are capitalised to that asset and are thus excluded 
from this calculation until substantially all the activities necessary 
to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 
The amount of borrowing costs that an entity capitalises during 
a period shall not exceed the amount of borrowing costs it 
incurred during that period. 

The amendment to AASB 123 is applicable to borrowing costs 
that the Consolidated Entity incurred on or after 1 April 2019. 
The application of the amendment did not have a material impact 
on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements.

IV. �AASB 119 Employee Benefits
An amendment to AASB 119 Employee Benefits (AASB 119) 
specifies how an entity should account for defined benefit plans 
when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs 
during a reporting period. The amendment requires the use of 
assumptions for the remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability or asset to determine the current service cost and the 
net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after a plan 
event occurs. The amendment to AASB 119 is effective and 
has been applied by the Consolidated Entity from 1 April 2019. 
The application of the amendment did not have a material impact 
on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements.

(ii) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has been restated to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current period.
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 2 
Operating profit before income tax

Net interest income

Interest and similar income

Effective interest rate method(1) 2,171 2,261 2,350 

Other 377 407 337

Interest and similar expense(2) (1,758) (1,906) (1,689)

Net interest income 790 762 998

Fee and commission income

Base and other asset management fees(3) 1,113 1,062 1,057

Performance fees(4) 546 577 282

Mergers and acquisitions, advisory and underwriting fees 482 433 573

Brokerage and other trading-related income 412 459 473

Other fee and commission income 321 334 276

Total fee and commission income 2,874 2,865 2,661

Net trading income(5)

Equities 354 301 242

Commodities(6),(7) 1,082 1,171 811

Credit, interest rate, foreign exchange and other products 191 88 178

Net trading income 1,627 1,560 1,231

Net operating lease income

Rental income(8) 1,066 1,199 1,091

Depreciation and other operating lease-related charges (605) (710) (630)

Net operating lease income 461 489 461

Share of net (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures (49) (63) 7

(1)	 Includes interest income calculated using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method of $2,095 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $2,211 million; half-year to 
30 September 2018: $2,168 million) on financial assets measured at amortised cost and $76 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $50 million; half-year to 
30 September 2018: $182 million) on financial assets measured at FVOCI.

(2)	 Includes interest expense of $1,687 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $1,786 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $1,609 million) on financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost.

(3)	 Includes $967 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $916 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $899 million) of base fee income.
(4)	 Includes $361 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $225 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $236 million) from transactions with the Consolidated 

Entity’s associates.
(5)	 Includes fair value movements on trading assets and liabilities, ineffective portion of designated hedge relationships and fair value changes on derivatives used 

to economically hedge the Consolidated Entity’s interest rate risk.
(6)	 Includes $290 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $215 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $204 million) of transportation, storage and certain other 

trading-related costs.
(7)	 Half-year to 30 September 2019 includes $20 million depreciation on ROU assets for trading-related businesses.
(8)	 Includes $65 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $76 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $55 million) of net supplemental rent, primarily related to 

Macquarie AirFinance (MAF) that was classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2019. 
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 2
Operating profit before income tax continued

Credit and other impairment (charges)/reversal

Credit impairment (charges)/reversal

Loan assets (126) (127) (46)

Loans to associates and joint ventures (6) (81) (8)

Other assets (16) (36) (3)

Financial investments (2) (30) (5)

Undrawn credit commitments and financial guarantees (8) (6) 8

Recovery of loans previously written off 14 4 10

Total credit impairment charges (144) (276) (44)

Other impairment reversal/(charges)

Interests in associates and joint ventures 7 (177) (30)

Intangible assets and other non-financial assets (2) (23) (2)

Total other impairment reversal/(charges) 5 (200) (32)

Total credit and other impairment charges (139) (476) (76)

Other operating income and charges

Investment income

Net gain on equity investments 91 13 148

Net gain on debt investments 7 4 13

Net gain on interests in associates and joint ventures 248 971 126

Net gain on disposal of businesses and subsidiaries held for sale 211 601 23

Net gain on change of control, joint control and/or significant influence 
and reclassifications to/from held for sale 113 28 175

Total investment income 670 1,617 485

Other income and charges(1),(2) 86 170 63

Total other operating income and charges 756 1,787 548

Net operating income 6,320 6,924 5,830

(1)	 Includes $9 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $9 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $22 million) of loss on derecognition of loans at amortised cost and 
$7 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $9 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $25 million) of fair value losses on loans measured at FVTPL.

(2)	 Includes $164 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $84 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $52 million) of income and $216 million (half-year to 31 March 2019:  
$86 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $72 million) of expenses relating to subsidiaries that do not form part of the Consolidated Entity’s integrated 
business operations.
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 2
Operating profit before income tax continued

Employment expenses

Salary and related costs including commissions, superannuation 
and performance-related profit share (2,238) (2,324) (2,033)

Share-based payments(1) (349) (275) (247)

(Provision for)/reversal of long service and annual leave (15) 5 (17)

Total compensation expenses (2,602) (2,594) (2,297)

Other employment expenses including on-costs, staff procurement 
and staff training (174) (169) (157)

Total employment expenses (2,776) (2,763) (2,454)

Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses

Brokerage and other trading-related expenses (365) (417) (424)

Other fee and commission expenses (117)  (144) (155)

Total brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses (482) (561) (579)

Occupancy expenses

Operating lease expenses(2) (99) (140) (116)

Depreciation on own use assets: buildings, furniture, fittings 
and leasehold improvements (39) (38) (39)

Other occupancy expenses (63) (56) (52)

Total occupancy expenses (201) (234) (207)

Non-salary technology expenses

Information services (109) (108) (99)

Depreciation on own use assets: equipment (12) (12) (11)

Service provider and other non-salary technology expenses (246) (233) (221)

Total non-salary technology expenses (367) (353) (331)

Other operating expenses

Professional fees (262) (276) (202)

Travel and entertainment expenses (97) (95) (91)

Advertising and promotional expenses (52) (47) (45)

Amortisation of intangible assets (31) (25) (22)

Auditor’s remuneration (19) (19) (19)

Communication expenses (15) (13) (14)

Depreciation on own use asset: infrastructure assets (18) (15) (16)

Other expenses (160) (361) (145)

Total other operating expenses (654) (851) (554)

Total operating expenses (4,480) (4,762) (4,125)

Operating profit before income tax 1,840 2,162 1,705

(1)	 Includes $11 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $9 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $20 million) of share-based payments expense for cash 
settled awards.

(2)	 Includes $81 million of depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to property leases following the adoption of AASB 16. Prior periods include operating lease 
rentals under AASB 117.
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Note 3 
Segment reporting

(i) Operating Segments

AASB 8 Operating Segments requires the ‘management 
approach’ to disclosing information about the Consolidated 
Entity’s reportable segments. The financial information is reported 
on the same basis as used internally by senior management for 
evaluating Operating Segment performance and for deciding how 
to allocate resources to Operating Segments. Such information 
may be produced using different measures to that used in 
preparing the statutory income statement.

For internal reporting, performance measurement and risk 
management purposes, the Consolidated Entity is divided into 
Operating Groups and a Corporate segment. 

During the half-year ended March 2019, certain businesses were 
reorganised between Operating Groups including:
–– Macquarie’s Australian vehicle finance business moved from 

CAF into BFS
–– Macquarie Capital’s global real estate business moved into 

MAM and merged with MIRA Real Estate.

During the current period, CAF businesses have been aligned 
to other Operating Groups where they have the greatest 
opportunities in terms of shared clients and complementary 
offerings as follows:
–– CAF Principal Finance joined Macquarie Capital, to bring 

together all principal investing activity and enhance our ability 
to invest directly and alongside clients and partners 

–– CAF Transportation Finance joined MAM, reflecting its evolution 
towards a fiduciary business following the sale of Macquarie 
AirFinance to a newly formed joint venture

–– CAF Asset Finance moved to CGM, reflecting a longstanding, 
shared focus on innovative financing solutions for corporates, 
some of which are already shared clients

–– In addition, certain fiduciary businesses, such as the 
infrastructure debt business (MIDIS), moved from CAF Asset 
Finance in the Bank Group to MAM in the Non-Bank Group.

Comparatives have been reclassified to reflect this reorganisation 
between the Operating Groups. The financial information 
disclosed relates to the Consolidated Entity’s ordinary activities.

These segments have been set up based on the different core 
products and services offered. Following the reorganisation 
described above, the Operating Groups comprise:

–– MAM provides investment solutions to clients across a range 
of capabilities, including infrastructure, renewables, real estate, 
agriculture, transportation finance, equities, fixed income, 
private credit and multi-asset solutions

–– BFS provides a diverse range of personal banking, wealth 
management, business banking and vehicle finance 
products and services to retail clients, advisers, brokers and 
business clients

–– CGM provides integrated, end-to-end offering across global 
markets including equities, fixed income, foreign exchange, 
commodities and technology, media and telecoms as well as 
providing clients with risk and capital solutions across physical 
and financial markets. CGM also delivers a diverse range of 
tailored finance solutions globally across a variety of industries 
and asset classes

–– Macquarie Capital has global capability in advisory, capital 
raising services, providing clients with specialist expertise, 
advice and flexible capital solutions across a range of sectors 
and investing alongside partners and clients, across the capital 
structure. It also has global capability in infrastructure, green 
and conventional energy, focusing on utilising its balance sheet 
to construct assets, build businesses and create platforms 
across development, construction and operational phases.

The Corporate segment, which is not considered an Operating 
Group, comprises head office and central service groups, 
including Group Treasury. As applicable, the Corporate segment 
holds certain legacy investments, assets and businesses that are 
no longer core for strategic reasons and are not allocated to any 
of the Operating Groups.

Items of income and expense within the Corporate segment 
include the net result of managing Macquarie’s liquidity and funding 
requirements, earnings on capital and the residual accounting 
volatility relating to economically hedged positions where hedge 
accounting is applied as well as accounting volatility for other 
economically hedged positions where hedge accounting is not 
applicable. Other items of income and expenses include earnings 
from investments, central credit and asset related impairments, 
unallocated head office costs and costs of central service groups, 
the Consolidated Entity’s performance-related profit share and 
share-based payments expense, income tax expense and certain 
distributions attributable to certain non-controlling interests and 
holders of Macquarie Income Securities (MIS).

Below is a selection of key policies applied in determining 
Operating Segment results.

Internal funding arrangements
Group Treasury has the responsibility for managing funding 
for the Consolidated Entity, and Operating Groups obtain their 
funding from Group Treasury. The interest rates charged by Group 
Treasury are determined by the currency and term of the funding. 
Break costs are charged to Operating Groups for the early 
repayment of term funding.

Generally, Operating Groups may only source funding directly 
from external sources where the funding is secured by the 
Operating Group’s assets. In such cases the Operating Group 
bears the funding costs directly and Group Treasury may levy 
additional charges where appropriate.

Deposits are a funding source for the Consolidated Entity. BFS 
receives a deposit premium from Group Treasury on deposits that 
it generates. This deposit premium is included within Net interest 
and trading income for segment reporting purposes. 
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Note 3
Segment reporting continued

(i) Operating Segments continued 

Transactions between Operating Segments
Operating Segments that enter into arrangements with other 
Operating Segments must do so on commercial terms or as 
agreed by the Consolidated Entity’s Chief Executive Officer or 
Chief Financial Officer. There is a requirement for accounting 
symmetry in such transactions.

Internal transactions are recognised in each of the relevant 
categories of income and expense and eliminated on 
consolidation as appropriate.

Accounting for derivatives that hedge interest rate risk
For businesses that predominantly earn income from lending 
activities, derivatives that hedge interest rate risk are required 
to be measured at fair value. The changes in fair value (volatility) 
is recognised in net trading income unless hedge accounting 
is applied by the Consolidated Entity, where either the hedged 
item is revalued for changes in fair value that is attributable to the 
hedged risk to remove the volatility, or the fair value volatility on the 
derivative is deferred until the hedged transaction is recognised 
in the income statement. For segment reporting, derivatives are 
accounted for on an accrual basis in the results of the applicable 
Operating Groups, with changes in fair value recognised within 
the Corporate segment and managed via the application of 
hedge accounting. 

Central service groups
The central service groups provide a range of functions 
supporting Macquarie’s Operating Groups, ensuring they have the 
appropriate workplace support and systems to operate effectively 
and the necessary resources to meet their regulatory, compliance, 
financial reporting, legal and risk management requirements.

Central service groups recover their costs from Operating Groups 
generally on either a time and effort allocation basis or a fee 
for service basis. Central service groups include the Corporate 
Operations Group (COG), Financial Management Group (FMG), 
Risk Management Group (RMG), Legal and Governance and 
Central Executive.

Performance-related profit share and share-based 
payments expense
Performance-related profit share and share-based payments 
expense relating to the Macquarie Group Employee Retained 
Equity Plan (MEREP) are recognised in the Corporate segment 
and not allocated to the Operating Groups. 

Income tax
Income tax expense and benefits are recognised in the Corporate 
segment and not allocated to the Operating Groups. However, to 
recognise an Operating Group’s contribution to permanent 
income tax differences, an internal management revenue/charge 
is used. These internal management revenue/charges are offset 
by an equal and opposite amount recognised in the Corporate 
segment such that they are eliminated on consolidation.

Presentation of segment income statements
The income statements on the following pages for each of the 
reported segments are in some cases summarised by grouping 
non-material balances together. Where appropriate, all material 
or key balances have been reported separately to provide users 
with information relevant to the understanding of the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial performance. The financial information disclosed 
relates to the Consolidated Entity’s ordinary activities.
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Macquarie Asset 
 Management

Banking and  
Financial Services

Commodities and  
Global Markets

Macquarie 
Capital Corporate Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Note 3
Segment reporting continued

(i) Operating Segments continued

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable segments: HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (258) 838 1,688 (18) 167 2,417
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,648 226 606 415 (21) 2,874
Net operating lease income 303 – 157 – 1 461
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 83 (3) 9 (137) (1) (49)
Credit and other impairment (charges)/reversal (5) (42) (35) (59) 2 (139)
Other operating income and charges 108 – 49 576 23 756
Internal management revenue/(charge) – 2 2 38 (42) –
Net operating income 1,879 1,021 2,476 815 129 6,320
Total operating expenses (755) (636) (1,338) (593) (1,158) (4,480)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 1,124 385 1,138 222 (1,029) 1,840
Income tax expense – – – – (376) (376)
(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (2) – – 1 (6) (7)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,122 385 1,138 223 (1,411) 1,457
Reportable segment assets 10,368 68,880 115,308 12,763 12,176 219,495

HALF-YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2019

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (252) 844 1,583 26 121 2,322
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,538 232 611 497 (13) 2,865
Net operating lease income 335 – 153 – 1 489
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 27 9 10 (102) (7) (63)
Credit and other impairment charges (87) (54) (147) (179) (9) (476)
Other operating income and charges 125 21 82 1,543 16 1,787
Internal management revenue/(charge) 107 – (9) 26 (124) –
Net operating income 1,793 1,052 2,283 1,811 (15) 6,924
Total operating expenses (770) (674) (1,403) (569) (1,346) (4,762)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 1,023 378 880 1,242 (1,361) 2,162
Income tax expense – – – – (505) (505)
(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (1) – (1) 23 (6) 15
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,022 378 879 1,265 (1,872) 1,672
Reportable segment assets 16,315 63,893 103,456 8,950 10,568 203,182

HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (217) 834 1,357 61 194 2,229
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,292 244 611 526 (12) 2,661
Net operating lease income 327 – 132 – 2 461
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 87 (1) 10 (89) – 7
Credit and other impairment (charges)/reversal (18) (28) (18) 4 (16) (76)
Other operating income and charges 63 – 54 506 (75) 548
Internal management revenue/(charge) – 2 5 15 (22) –
Net operating income 1,534 1,051 2,151 1,023 71 5,830
Total operating expenses (683) (673) (1,286) (504) (979) (4,125)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 851 378 865 519 (908) 1,705
Income tax expense – – – – (374) (374)
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (1) – (1) (10) (9) (21)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 850 378 864 509 (1,291) 1,310
Reportable segment assets 15,491 61,623 107,651 10,936 9,897 205,598
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Note 3
Segment reporting continued

(i) Operating Segments continued

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable segments: HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (258) 838 1,688 (18) 167 2,417
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,648 226 606 415 (21) 2,874
Net operating lease income 303 – 157 – 1 461
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 83 (3) 9 (137) (1) (49)
Credit and other impairment (charges)/reversal (5) (42) (35) (59) 2 (139)
Other operating income and charges 108 – 49 576 23 756
Internal management revenue/(charge) – 2 2 38 (42) –
Net operating income 1,879 1,021 2,476 815 129 6,320
Total operating expenses (755) (636) (1,338) (593) (1,158) (4,480)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 1,124 385 1,138 222 (1,029) 1,840
Income tax expense – – – – (376) (376)
(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (2) – – 1 (6) (7)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,122 385 1,138 223 (1,411) 1,457
Reportable segment assets 10,368 68,880 115,308 12,763 12,176 219,495

HALF-YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2019

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (252) 844 1,583 26 121 2,322
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,538 232 611 497 (13) 2,865
Net operating lease income 335 – 153 – 1 489
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 27 9 10 (102) (7) (63)
Credit and other impairment charges (87) (54) (147) (179) (9) (476)
Other operating income and charges 125 21 82 1,543 16 1,787
Internal management revenue/(charge) 107 – (9) 26 (124) –
Net operating income 1,793 1,052 2,283 1,811 (15) 6,924
Total operating expenses (770) (674) (1,403) (569) (1,346) (4,762)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 1,023 378 880 1,242 (1,361) 2,162
Income tax expense – – – – (505) (505)
(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests (1) – (1) 23 (6) 15
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,022 378 879 1,265 (1,872) 1,672
Reportable segment assets 16,315 63,893 103,456 8,950 10,568 203,182

HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Net interest and trading (expense)/income (217) 834 1,357 61 194 2,229
Fee and commission income/(expense) 1,292 244 611 526 (12) 2,661
Net operating lease income 327 – 132 – 2 461
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 87 (1) 10 (89) – 7
Credit and other impairment (charges)/reversal (18) (28) (18) 4 (16) (76)
Other operating income and charges 63 – 54 506 (75) 548
Internal management revenue/(charge) – 2 5 15 (22) –
Net operating income 1,534 1,051 2,151 1,023 71 5,830
Total operating expenses (683) (673) (1,286) (504) (979) (4,125)
Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 851 378 865 519 (908) 1,705
Income tax expense – – – – (374) (374)
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (1) – (1) (10) (9) (21)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders 850 378 864 509 (1,291) 1,310
Reportable segment assets 15,491 61,623 107,651 10,936 9,897 205,598
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Note 3
Segment reporting continued

(ii) Fee and commission income/(expense) relating to contracts with customers

The below table represents a disaggregation of fee and commission income by Operating Segment:

Macquarie 
Asset 

Management

Banking  
and Financial 

Services

Commodities 
and Global 

Markets
Macquarie 

Capital Corporate Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Fee and commission income HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Base and other asset 
management fees 999 110 4 – – 1,113

Performance fees 546 – – – – 546

Mergers and acquisitions, 
advisory and underwriting fees 23 – 58 411 (10) 482

Brokerage and other 
trading‑related income 4 25 383 – – 412

Other fee and commission 
income 76 91 161 4 (11) 321

Total 1,648 226 606 415 (21) 2,874

Fee and commission income HALF-YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2019

Base and other asset 
management fees 947 112 3 – – 1,062

Performance fees 483 – – 94 – 577

Mergers and acquisitions, 
advisory and underwriting fees 23 – 16 396 (2) 433

Brokerage and other 
trading‑related income 6 28 425 – – 459

Other fee and commission 
income 79 92 167 7 (11) 334

Total 1,538 232 611 497 (13) 2,865

Fee and commission income HALF-YEAR TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Base and other asset 
management fees 930 121 6 – – 1,057

Performance fees 282 – – – – 282

Mergers and acquisitions, 
advisory and underwriting fees 12 – 55 508 (2) 573

Brokerage and other 
trading‑related income 2 39 432 – – 473

Other fee and commission 
income 66 84 118 18 (10) 276

Total 1,292 244 611 526 (12) 2,661
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Note 3
Segment reporting continued

(iii) Products and services

Segment reporting based on products and services is based on the following activities of the Consolidated Entity:

–– Lending: corporate and structured finance, banking activities, mortgages, asset financing and leasing;
–– Financial markets: trading in fixed income, equities, foreign exchange & commodities and broking services;
–– Asset and wealth management: distribution and manufacture of funds & wealth management products; and
–– Capital markets: advisory & capital raising services, underwriting, facilitation and principal lending & investments.

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Revenues from external customers

Lending 2,864 3,036 2,756

Financial markets 3,194 3,171 2,779

Asset and wealth management 1,798 1,731 1,488

Capital markets 1,485 2,309 1,404

Total revenue from external customers(1) 9,341 10,247 8,427

Following the alignment of certain businesses between Operating Groups, the products and services classification has been aligned with 
the information relating to core products and services offered by each Operating Group.

(iv) Geographical areas

Geographical segments have been determined based on where the transactions have been recorded. The operations of the 
Consolidated Entity are headquartered in Australia.

Revenues from external customers

Australia 3,154 3,224 3,296

Americas(2) 2,854 2,964 2,320

Europe, Middle East and Africa(3) 2,665 3,450 2,207

Asia Pacific 668 609 604

Total 9,341 10,247 8,427

(v) Major customers

The Consolidated Entity does not rely on any major customer.

(1)	 Revenue from external customers includes fee and commission income relating to contracts with customers, interest and similar income, net trading income, 
operating lease income, income associated with investing activities and other income.

(2)	 Includes external revenue generated in the United States of America of $2,521 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $2,809 million; half-year to  
30 September 2018: $2,189 million).

(3)	 Includes external revenue generated in the United Kingdom of $2,091 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $2,385 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: 
$1,698 million).
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 4 
Income tax expense

(i) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Prima facie income tax expense on operating profit(1) (552) (648) (512)

Tax effect of amounts which are non-assessable/(non-deductible) in 
calculating taxable income:

Rate differential on offshore income 204 136 153

Other items (28) 7 (15)

Total income tax expense (376) (505) (374)

(ii) Tax benefit/(expense) relating to items of OCI

FVOCI reserve (2) 4 5

Own credit risk 8 (8) 5

Cash flow hedges 2 7 4

Foreign currency translation and net investment hedge reserve – 1 –

Share of other comprehensive (income)/expense of associates 
and joint ventures (6) 7 6

Total tax benefit relating to items of OCI 2 11 20

Revenue authorities undertake risk reviews and audits as part of their normal activities. The Consolidated Entity has assessed these and 
other taxation claims and litigation, including seeking advice where appropriate, and considers that it holds appropriate provisions.

(1)	 Prima facie income tax expense on operating profit is calculated at the Australian statutory corporate tax rate of 30% (half-year to 31 March 2019: 30%;  
half-year to 30 September 2018: 30%).
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 5 
Dividends paid or provided for

(i) Dividends paid

Ordinary share capital and exchangeable shares

Final dividend paid (2019: $3.60 (2018: $3.20) per share) 1,224 – 1,089

Interim dividend paid (2019: $2.15 per share) – 730 –

Total dividends paid (Note 20)(1) 1,224 730 1,089

The 2019 final dividend paid during the period was franked at 45% based on tax paid at 30% (2018 final dividend franked at 45% 
based on tax paid at 30%; 2019 interim dividend franked at 45% based on tax paid at 30%). The dividends paid to the holders of the 
exchangeable shares were not franked (refer Note 19 Contributed equity for information on exchangeable shares).

The Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) remains active. The DRP is optional and offers ordinary shareholders in Australia and 
New Zealand the opportunity to acquire fully paid ordinary shares without transaction costs. A shareholder can elect to participate in or 
terminate their involvement in the DRP at any time. Details of shares purchased from the market and then allocated as fully paid ordinary 
shares pursuant to the DRP are included in Note 19 Contributed equity.

(ii) Dividends not recognised at the end of the period

Since the end of the period, the Directors have resolved to pay an interim dividend for the half-year ended 30 September 2019 of $2.50 
per fully paid ordinary share, franked at 40% based on tax paid at 30%. The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to 
be paid on 18 December 2019 from retained profits at 30 September 2019, but not recognised as a liability at the end of the period is 
$886 million (refer Note 19 Contributed equity for further details on these instruments). This amount has been estimated based on the 
number of shares as at 30 September 2019.

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$ per share $ per share $ per share

Cash dividend per ordinary share  
(distribution of current period profits) 2.50 3.60 2.15

(1)	 Includes $8 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $6 million; half-year to 30 September 2018: $8 million) of dividend equivalent amount paid to  
Deferred Share Units (DSU) holders.
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Note 6 
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Consolidated Entity’s profit attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Consolidated Entity’s profit attributable to ordinary equity holders (adjusted by 
profit attributable to all the dilutive potential ordinary shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary 
shares that would be issued on the exchange of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

CENTS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 430.1 494.5 388.3

Diluted earnings per share 419.5 483.9 383.1

Reconciliation of earnings used in the calculation of basic and 
diluted earnings per share $m $m $m

Profit after income tax 1,464 1,657 1,331

(Profit)/loss attributable to non-controlling interests:

Macquarie Income Securities (6) (8) (7)

Other non-controlling interests (1) 23 (14)

Total profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of MGL 1,457 1,672 1,310

Less: profit attributable to participating unvested MEREP awards (53) (68)  (53)

Total earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 1,404 1,604 1,257

Add back:

Profit attributable to dilutive participating unvested MEREP awards 34 48 36

Interest expense on loan capital, net of tax (where applicable)

Macquarie Group Capital Notes (MCN)(1) – – 6

Macquarie Bank Capital Notes (BCN) 10 10 11

Macquarie Group Capital Notes 2 (MCN2)(2) 16 17 –

Macquarie Group Capital Notes 3 (MCN3) 24 26 17

Macquarie Group Capital Notes 4 (MCN4)(3) 22 1 –

Total earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 1,510 1,706 1,327

(1)	 Redeemed on 7 June 2018.
(2)	 Anti-dilutive for the half-year ended 30 September 2018.
(3)	 Issued on 27 March 2019.
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Note 6
Earnings per share continued

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

NUMBER OF SHARES

Total weighted average number of equity shares (net of treasury 
shares) adjusted for participating unvested MEREP awards used in 
the calculation of basic earnings per share(1) 326,439,395 324,357,451 323,717,192

Weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share:

Weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of 
basic earnings per share 326,439,395 324,357,451 323,717,192

Potential dilutive equity shares:

Weighted average unvested MEREP awards 10,959,592 12,529,703 12,197,548 

Weighted average MCN – – 1,972,695 

Weighted average BCN 3,375,733 3,397,148 3,440,532 

Weighted average MCN 2 4,174,298 4,200,780 – 

Weighted average MCN 3 7,861,320 7,911,192 5,078,786

Weighted average MCN 4 7,118,354 196,800 – 

Total weighted average number of equity shares (net of treasury 
shares) and potential equity shares used in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share 359,928,692 352,593,074 346,406,753

(1)	 Includes weighted average number of equity shares for additional equity shares issued during the current period under the Institutional Private Placement and 
Share Purchase Plan.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 7 
Trading assets

Equity securities

Listed 9,801 8,287 9,307

Unlisted 1 1 28

Debt securities

Commonwealth and foreign government securities 7,580 4,762 5,700

Corporate loans and securities 1,232 1,931 1,233

Treasury notes 100 783 762

Other debt securities 2 36 100

Commodities 5,514 2,870 3,028

Total trading assets 24,230 18,670 20,158

Note 8 
Margin money and settlement assets

Margin placed(1) 8,752 7,060 8,444

Security settlements 8,234 7,330 9,237

Commodity settlements 3,326 4,721 3,022

Total margin money and settlement assets 20,312 19,111 20,703

Note 9 
Financial investments

Equity securities

Listed 241 260 142

Unlisted 1,072 1,051 1,074

Debt securities

Bonds and NCDs 5,751 5,100 4,781

Corporate loans and securities 173 166 275

Other debt securities 700 584 361

Total financial investments 7,937 7,161 6,633

(1)	 Margin money represents collateral placed in respect of derivative positions. Of this $5,094 million (31 March 2019: $3,584 million, 30 September 2018: 
$3,740 million) relates to client segregated funds, with a portion hereof classified as cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in Note 21.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 10 
Held for sale and other assets

Held for sale assets

Assets of disposal groups and interests in associates and joint ventures 
held for sale(1),(2) 608 9,023 2,153

Other assets

Debtors and prepayments(3) 4,093 3,888 3,812

Income tax receivable 487 397 343

Life investment linked contracts and other unitholder assets 374 381 623

Inventory held for sale 275 299 226

Other 396 204 244

Total other assets 5,625 5,169 5,248

Note 11 
Loan assets

AS AT 30 SEP 19 AS AT 31 MAR 19 AS AT 30 SEP 18

Gross
ECL 

allowance Net Gross
ECL 

allowance Net Gross
ECL 

allowance Net
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Mortgages(4) 48,392 (54) 48,338 43,056 (60) 42,996 40,461 (52) 40,409

Asset financing(4) 17,552 (235) 17,317 18,667 (244) 18,423 18,822 (231) 18,591

Corporate, commercial 
and other lending 17,162 (273) 16,889 15,330 (233) 15,097 16,238 (226) 16,012

Investment lending 2,524 (2) 2,522 1,961 (3) 1,958 1,943 (2) 1,941

Total loan assets 85,630 (564) 85,066 79,014 (540) 78,474 77,464 (511) 76,953

(1)	 Previous period includes assets of $7,995 million relating to the Consolidated Entity’s interest in MAF that was classified as held for sale during 31 March 2019, 
which was subsequently disposed of during the current period. Refer Note 25 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses.

(2)	 Subsequent to 30 September 2019, material conditions precedent to the partial sale of a number of joint ventures were met. These sales are expected to close 
by the end of the year. A total pre-tax gain of approximately $400 million is expected to be recognised by the Consolidated Entity in the half-year ending 31 March 
2020 in relation to these sales. The Consolidated Entity’s remaining investment in the entities will continue to be accounted for as joint ventures.

(3)	 Includes $721 million (31 March 2019: $681 million; 30 September 2018: $710 million) of fee and commission receivables and $1,517 million (31 March 2019: 
$1,201 million; 30 September 2018: $806 million) of fee related contract assets.

(4)	 Includes $11,975 million (31 March 2019: $10,753 million; 30 September 2018: $9,630 million) held by consolidated Special Purpose Entities (SPEs), which are 
available as security to note holders and debt providers.
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Note 12
Expected credit losses 

The Consolidated Entity determines its Expected Credit 
Losses (ECL) with reference to a range of inputs notably that of 
Exposure at Default (EAD), Probability of Default (PD) and Loss 
Given Default (LGD). In addition, AASB 9 requires the inclusion 
of Forward-Looking Information (FLI) to be included in the 
determination of the ECL. The inclusion of FLI in calculating ECL 
allowances adjusts the PD, the determination of whether there 
has been a Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR) as well 
as the LGD (relevant to the determination of the recovery rate 
on collateral). 

The Consolidated Entity’s Risk Management Group is responsible 
for the FLI including the development of scenarios and the 
weighting applied to those scenarios. In calculating the ECL, 
EADs, PDs and LGDs are determined under each scenario. 
The resultant ECL for each scenario is then probability weighted 
to determine the reported ECL. The scenarios and the assigned 
probabilities are updated semi-annually or more frequently 
if a material disruption event were to occur. The scenarios, 
including its underlying indicators, are developed using a 
combination of publicly available data, internal forecasts and 
third-party information. 

The scenarios are refined through consultation with internal 
specialists and benchmarking to external data from reputable 
sources. Assigning probabilities to these scenarios requires 
professional judgement which draws on internal risk and 
economics’ specialist input and comparison to general market 
outlooks and publicly available market commentary. The scenarios 
and the associated probabilities are ultimately approved by senior 
risk and finance executives.

http://macquarie.com


macquarie.com Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries  2020 Interim Report 45

Directors’ Report Financial Report

Note 12
Expected credit losses continued

The key elements for each of the key regions where Macquarie’s ECL is derived have been set-out below:

Scenario Weighting Expectation

Baseline Probable Global: The baseline scenario assumes global economic performance slowly deteriorates from 
current conditions and reaches a lower level, which is then maintained throughout most of the 
forecast period.

Australia: GDP growth is forecast to recover marginally during the second half of 2019 and then 
remain relatively stable through the end of the forecast period, house prices’ trend stops declining in 
2019 and recovers thereafter, the unemployment rate gradually declines to a trough in 2020 with the 
Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) maintaining the cash rate relatively stable following cuts in 2019.

United States: Growth is forecast to decelerate through to the end of the forecast period, while 
10-year government bond yields are expected to fall further, and the unemployment rate remains 
relatively stable until mid-2021 thereafter it rises moderately.

Europe: Low growth forecasted for the forecast period, 10-year government bond yields 
remaining low through the forecast period and levels of unemployment relatively stable.

Upside Possible Global: Marginally higher growth in GDP over the baseline scenario during the forecast period.

Australia: Marginally higher GDP over the baseline scenario during the forecast period. Following 
the RBA increasing the cash rate in late 2019, house prices decline but recover during 2021 and 
end higher than current peak price levels.

United States: Marginally higher GDP over the baseline during the forecast period with a peak 
in late 2019 and moderating thereafter. 10-year government bond yields peak in 2021 and the 
unemployment rate falls further than that forecasted in the baseline scenario.

Europe: Marginally higher GDP over the baseline during the forecast period. 10-year government 
bond yields peak higher than the baseline in 2022 and the unemployment rate falling further than 
that forecasted in the baseline scenario.

Downside Possible Global: Marginally lower growth in GDP over the baseline through to 2022.

Australia: GDP growth falls further in 2019 and marginally recovers after 2022. House prices 
decline but recover to current levels by 2022. During 2022 the unemployment rate peaks and the 
RBA cuts interest rates further than in baseline scenario.

United States: GDP growth reduces and gradually recovers after 2022, 10-year government 
bond yields fall through to 2021 and remain at those levels and the unemployment rate rises from 
current levels through to 2022.

Europe: Very low levels of GDP growth through to 2023, 10-year government bond yields remain 
close to current levels and rising unemployment rates.

More severe 
downside

Unlikely Global: A recession from 2020–2021 following a marked retraction in GDP growth before 
recovering in 2022.

Australia: GDP growth contracts through mid-2020 and recovers above existing levels in mid-2022. 
House prices register a significant decline from current levels to mid-2020 and the RBA cuts 
interest rates by the end of 2019 and remain low through most of the forecast period.

United States: GDP contracts during 2020 but returns to growth in 2021 and peaks in mid-2022. 
10-year government bond rates drop and remain low through 2021 and recover gradually over the 
forecast period. Unemployment peaks before declining again in 2022.

Europe: Growth contracts during 2020 and recovers to current levels by 2022. 10-year 
government bond yields fall and rise marginally through to 2022, the unemployment rate peaks in 
2022 before moderating towards the end of the forecast period but still above that of the baseline.
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Note 12
Expected credit losses continued 

The table below presents the gross exposure and related ECL allowance for assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI and 
off balance sheet exposures subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9(1).

AS AT 30 SEP 19 AS AT 31 MAR 19 AS AT 30 SEP 18

Gross 
exposure(1) 

ECL  
allowance

Gross 
exposure(1) 

ECL  
allowance

Gross 
exposure(1) 

ECL  
allowance

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Cash and bank balances(2) 9,579 – 9,787 – 9,625 –

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and 
reverse repurchase agreements(2) 11,062 – 10,201 – 11,564 –

Margin money and settlement assets(2) 17,957 – 15,364 – 18,532 –

Financial investments 5,693 5 5,310 91 4,965 61

Other assets(3) 3,431 87 4,075 102 3,408 110

Loan assets(4) 84,376 676 78,505 618 76,339 574

Loans to associates and joint ventures(5) 1,418 108 609 119 362 39

Undrawn credit commitments and 
financial guarantees(6) 8,269 38 6,834 29 6,317 23

Total 141,785 914 130,685 959 131,112 807

(1)	 Gross exposure of financial assets measured at amortised cost represents the amortised cost before the ECL allowance and the gross exposure of financial 
assets measured at FVOCI represents amortised cost before fair value adjustments and ECL allowance.

(2)	 Consists of short-term, fully collateralised or high quality assets with minimal expected and historical losses. 
(3)	 Includes contract assets of $1,517 million (31 March 2019: $1,201 million; 30 September 2018: $806 million).
(4)	 Includes ECL allowance of $564 million (31 March 2019: $540 million; 30 September 2018; $511 million) on loan assets carried at amortised cost and $112 million 

(31 March 2019: $78 million; 30 September 2018: $63 million) on loan assets measured at FVOCI.
(5)	 Includes ECL allowance of $39 million (31 March 2019: $50 million; 30 September 2018; $36 million) on loans to associates and joint ventures carried at FVOCI 

and $69 million (31 March 2019: $69 million; 30 September 2018: $3 million) on loans to associates and joint ventures measured at amortised cost.
(6)	 Gross exposure for undrawn credit commitments and financial guarantees represents the notional values of these contracts.
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Note 12
Expected credit losses continued

The tables below represents the reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of ECL allowances:

Financial 
investments Other assets Loan assets

Loans to 
associates 

and joint 
ventures

Undrawn 
credit 

commitments 
and financial 

guarantees Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 52 128 572 31 33 816

Impairment charge/(reversal) (Note 2) 5 3 46 8 (8) 54

Amounts written off, previously provided for – (18) (45) – – (63)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and 
other movements 4 (3) 1 – (2) –

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 61 110 574 39 23 807

Impairment charge (Note 2) 30 36 127 81 6 280

Amounts written off, previously provided for – (45) (84) – – (129)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and 
other movements – 1 1 (1) – 1

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 91 102 618 119 29 959

Impairment charge (Note 2)  2  16  126  6  8  158 

Amounts written off, previously provided for –  (3)  (74)  –  –  (77)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and 
other movements  (88)  (28)  6  (17)  1  (126)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 5 87 676 108 38 914

‘Foreign exchange reclassifications and other movements’ within the current period include the derecognition of financial investments 
on restructuring and the recovery of previously provided for debtors within other assets.
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Note 12
Expected credit losses continued

The table below represents the reconciliation of the ECL allowance on loan assets to which the impairment requirements under AASB 9 
are applied.

LIFETIME ECL

Stage I 
12 month ECL

Stage II 
Not credit impaired

Stage III 
Credit impaired

Total ECL 
Allowance

$m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 147 239 186 572

Transfers during the period 23 (19) (4) –

Impairment (reversal)/charge (Note 2) (26) 3 69 46

Amounts written off, previously provided for – – (45) (45)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and other movements 1 – – 1

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 145 223 206 574

Transfers during the period 32 (41) 9 –

Impairment (reversal)/charge (Note 2) (18) 14 131 127

Amounts written off, previously provided for – – (84) (84)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and other movements (1) 3 (1) 1

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 158 199 261 618

Transfers during the period 17 (11) (6) –

Impairment (reversal)/charge (Note 2) (7) 6 127 126

Amounts written off, previously provided for – – (74) (74)

Foreign exchange, reclassifications and other movements – 1 5 6

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 168 195 313 676

The net movement during the current period in the Stage III ECL allowance for loan assets is attributable to standard provisioning 
practices for Asset Financing and the provisioning for and writing off of a number of Corporate Commercial Lending exposures as occurs 
in the normal course of business. 
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Note 13 
Property, plant and equipment

AS AT 30 SEP 19 AS AT 31 MAR 19 AS AT 30 SEP 18

Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and impairment
Carrying 

value Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and impairment
Carrying 

value Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and impairment
Carrying 

value
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Total assets for 
own use 1,611 (859) 752 1,418 (754) 664 1,481 (712) 769

Total assets under 
operating lease(1) 5,794 (1,857) 3,937 5,724 (1,687) 4,037 14,765 (4,173) 10,592

Total right-of-use 
assets(2) 890 (108) 782 – – – – – –

Total property, plant 
and equipment 8,295 (2,824) 5,471 7,142 (2,441) 4,701 16,246 (4,885) 11,361

Property
Commodity 

Storage Technology Others Total
$m $m $m $m $m

Right-of-use assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 – – – – –

Change on initial application of AASB 16 616 92 15 14 737

Restated balance as at 1 Apr 2019 616 92 15 14 737

Acquisitions/additions 137 12 8 – 157

Disposals (11) – – – (11)

Depreciation (81) (20) (6) (1) (108)

Foreign exchange movements and 
other adjustments 7 – – – 7

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 668 84 17 13 782

(1)	 The operating lease assets pertaining to MAF were reclassified as held for sale during March 2019, which were subsequently disposed of.
(2)	 Represents operating leases recognised in statement of financial position following the adoption of AASB 16 as described in Note 1.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 14 
Interests in associates and joint ventures

Equity investments with no provisions for impairment 6,165 2,748 2,864

Equity investments with provisions for impairment

Gross carrying value 1,476 1,423 1,274

Less: provisions for impairment (493) (483) (349)

Equity investments with provisions for impairment 983 940 925

Total equity investments in associates and joint ventures 7,148 3,688 3,789

Loans to associates and joint ventures 1,421 600 357

Less: credit impairment charges (69) (69) (3)

Total loans to associates and joint ventures 1,352 531 354

Total interests in associates and joint ventures(1),(2) 8,500 4,219 4,143

Disclosure of material associate and joint venture

The Consolidated Entity’s material associate and joint venture at the balance date are:

Associate and 
joint venture

Carrying value 
($m)

Ownership  
interest

Nature of 
investment Nature of activities

Financial 
reporting date

Macquarie AirFinance 1,554 75% Joint venture Aircraft leasing 31 March

East Anglia ONE Limited 2,225 40% Associate Offshore windfarm 31 March

Macquarie AirFinance (MAF)
On 1 August 2019, the Consolidated Entity disposed of 25% of its Macquarie AirFinance (MAF) business which was classified as held 
for sale as at 31 March 2019. The retained interest in MAF is accounted as an equity-accounted joint venture on the basis of exercising 
joint control. The total carrying value of the investment represents $757 million of equity investment and $797 million of debt investment 
which is a long term interest in the joint venture. The joint venture has net assets of $2,072 million as at 30 September 2019 comprising 
of total assets of $8,969 million, primarily relating to aviation assets under operating leases and total liabilities of $6,897 million, primarily 
relating to debt funding in relation to these assets. The total contribution of the joint venture to the Consolidated Entity’s income statement 
pertaining to the period under joint control was not material to the Consolidated Entity.

Refer Note 25 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses for details of the disposal transaction.

East Anglia ONE Limited
On 30 August 2019, the Consolidated Entity acquired a 40% interest in East Anglia ONE Limited, a UK offshore wind farm. The acquisition 
was partially funded with borrowings of $1,824 million. 

The Consolidated Entity has accounted for its interest as an equity-accounted associate on the basis of exercising significant influence. 
The carrying value of the investment in associate represents Macquarie’s share in the fair value of the net assets of the associate.

(1)	 Includes $5,690 million (31 March 2019: $2,948 million; 30 September 2018: $3,337 million) relating to interests in associates and $2,810 million (31 March 2019: 
$1,271 million; 30 September 2018: $806 million) relating to interests in joint ventures.

(2)	 Financial statements of associates and joint ventures have various reporting dates.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 15 
Trading liabilities

Equity securities

Listed 7,442 8,088 6,181

Debt securities

Foreign government securities 677 20 942

Corporate loans and securities 8 – 74

Commodities 19 – –

Total trading liabilities 8,146 8,108 7,197

Note 16 
Margin money and settlement liabilities

Margin money 15,617 12,733 13,552

Security settlements 7,957 7,066 9,086

Commodity settlements 3,109 2,777 2,264

Total margin money and settlement liabilities 26,683 22,576 24,902

Note 17 
Held for sale and other liabilities

Held for sale liabilities

Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale(1) 94 6,809 504

Other liabilities

Accrued charges, employment-related liabilities and provisions(2) 2,971 3,705 2,497

Creditors 1,500 1,745 1,657

Lease liabilities(3) 993 92 119

Income tax payable 445 413 268

Life investment linked contracts and other unitholder liabilities 368 377 617

Maintenance liabilities 111 108 958

Other 274 296 295

Total other liabilities 6,662 6,736 6,411

(1)	 Previous period includes liabilities of $6,643 million relating to the Consolidated Entity’s interest in MAF that was classified as held for sale during 31 March 2019, 
which was subsequently disposed of during the current period. Refer Note 25 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses.

(2)	 Includes provisions recognised for actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. The range of likely outcomes 
and increase in provisions during the current period in each of these matters did not have and is not currently expected to have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Entity.

(3)	 30 September 2019 lease liabilities includes the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 on 1 April 2019. As permitted by AASB 16, the Consolidated Entity has not 
restated the comparative financial reporting periods. Refer Note 1 for the impact on initial adoption of AASB 16.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 18 
Debt issued

Bonds, negotiable certificates of deposit and commercial paper(1) 53,968 47,924 49,633

Structured notes(2) 2,102 2,264 2,032

Total debt issued(3),(4) 56,070 50,188 51,665

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its debt during the reported periods.

Reconciliation of debt issued by major currency
(In Australian dollar equivalent)

United States dollar 30,997 30,756 31,113

Australian dollar 15,762 10,722 11,348

Euro 5,213 4,877 4,950

Japanese yen 1,180 1,079 1,023

Swiss franc 1,122 1,058 1,544

British pound 834 783 816

South African rand 255 288 276

Norwegian krone 166 164 170

Hong Kong dollar 156 148 126

Chinese renminbi 150 168 185

Korean won 113 114 114

Other 122 31 –

Total debt issued 56,070 50,188 51,665

(1)	 Includes $9,360 million (31 March 2019: $7,855 million; 30 September 2018: $8,115 million) payable to note holders and debt holders for which loan assets are 
held by consolidated SPEs and are available as security.

(2)	 Includes debt instruments on which the return is linked to commodities, equities, currencies, interest rates, other assets or credit risk of a counterparty.
(3)	 The amount that would be contractually required to be paid at maturity to the holders of the debt issued measured at DFVTPL (Refer Note 23 Measurement 

categories of financial instruments) for the Consolidated Entity is $2,682 million (31 March 2019: $3,246 million; 30 September 2018: $3,155 million). This amount 
is based on the final notional amount rather than the fair value.

(4)	 Includes cumulative fair value gain of $6 million (31 March 2019: $31 million gain; 30 September 2018: $9 million gain) due to changes in own credit risk 
on DFVTPL debt securities.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 19 
Contributed equity

Ordinary share capital 9,282 7,546 7,550

Treasury shares (1,568) (1,372) (1,413)

Exchangeable shares 7 7 7

Total contributed equity 7,721 6,181 6,144

Number of 
shares

Total 
 $m

(i) Ordinary share capital(1)

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 340,364,820 7,498

Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares 17,918 2

For employee MEREP awards:

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – 331

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense from share-based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – 25

Transfer from other liabilities on vesting of cash settled MEREP awards settled through equity – 2

Transfer from treasury shares for awards withdrawn/exercised on vesting for cash settled 
MEREP awards settled through equity – (2)

Transfer from treasury shares for awards withdrawn/exercised – (303)

Transfer from share-based payments capital reduction reserve on vested and forfeited awards – (3)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 340,382,738 7,550

For employee MEREP awards:

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – 39

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense from share-based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – (2)

Transfer from treasury shares for awards withdrawn/exercised – (41)

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 340,382,738 7,546

Issue of shares pursuant to the Institutional Private Placement, net of transaction costs(2) 8,333,333 991

Issue of shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Plan (SPP)(3) 5,660,150 679

Issue of shares on retraction of exchangeable shares 246 –

For employee MEREP awards:

Transfer of MEREP expense from share-based payments reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – 448

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense from share-based payments 
reserve on vesting of MEREP awards – 31

Transfer from treasury shares for awards withdrawn/exercised – (411)

Transfer from share-based payments capital reduction reserve on vested and forfeited awards – (2)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 354,376,467 9,282

(1)	 Ordinary shares have no par value.
(2)	 On 3 September 2019, MGL issued 8,333,333 fully paid ordinary shares at a price of $120 per share.
(3)	 On 30 September 2019, MGL issued 5,660,150 fully paid ordinary shares under the Share Purchase Plan offered to eligible existing shareholders with 

a registered address in Australia or New Zealand.
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Number of 
shares

Total 
$m

Note 19
Contributed equity continued

(ii) Treasury shares(1)

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 (17,840,115) (1,264)

Purchase of shares for employee MEREP awards (3,990,786) (454)

Transfer to ordinary share capital for awards exercised 4,819,645 303

Transfer to ordinary share capital for awards exercised on vesting for cash settled MEREP 
awards settled through equity 11,397 2

Purchase of shares for allocation under DRP scheme (543,494) (63)

Allocation of shares under DRP scheme 543,494 63

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 (16,999,859) (1,413)

Transfer to ordinary share capital for awards exercised 566,438 41

Purchase of shares for allocation under DRP scheme (411,970) (47)

Allocation of shares under DRP scheme 411,970 47

Purchase of shares for allocation under Macquarie Group Employee Share Plan (ESP) scheme (13,040) (1)

Allocation of shares under ESP scheme 13,040 1

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 (16,433,421) (1,372)

Purchase of shares for employee MEREP awards (4,960,137) (607)

Transfer to ordinary share capital for awards exercised 5,563,022 411

Purchase of shares for allocation under DRP scheme (701,215) (85)

Allocation of shares under DRP scheme 701,215 85

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 (15,830,536) (1,568)

(1)	 Under MEREP, a portion of staff retained profit share is held in MGL ordinary shares by the MEREP Trust and presented as Treasury shares.
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Number of 
shares

Total 
$m

Note 19
Contributed equity continued

(iii) Exchangeable shares(1)

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 124,968 9

Retraction of exchangeable shares (18,984) (2)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 105,984 7

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 105,984 7

Retraction of exchangeable shares (260) –

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 105,724 7

(1)	 The exchangeable shares were issued by subsidiaries as consideration for the acquisitions of Tristone Capital Global Inc. and Orion Financial Inc.  
and are classified as equity. 
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 20 
Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests

(i) Reserves

Foreign currency translation and net investment hedge reserve

Balance at the beginning of the period 824 713 375

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, 
net of hedge accounting and tax 328 111 338

Balance at the end of the period 1,152 824 713

FVOCI reserve

Balance at the beginning of the period 9 60 71

Revaluation movement for the period, net of tax 84 (97) (17)

Changes in ECL allowance, net of tax (58) 46 6

Balance at the end of the period 35 9 60

Share-based payments reserve

Balance at the beginning of the period 1,086 856 964

MEREP expense for the period 336 264 227

Additional deferred tax benefit on MEREP expense 14 3 21

Transfer to ordinary share capital on vesting of MEREP awards (448) (39) (331)

Transfer of additional deferred tax benefit to ordinary share capital 
on vesting of MEREP awards (31) 2 (25)

Balance at the end of the period 957 1,086 856

Share-based payments capital reduction reserve(1)

Balance at the beginning of the period (9) (9) (12)

Transfer to ordinary share capital on vested and forfeited awards 2 –  3

Balance at the end of the period (7) (9) (9)

Cash flow hedging reserve

Balance at the beginning of the period (107)  (38)  (49)

Revaluation movement for the period, net of tax (57) (82) (1)

Transferred to income statement on realisation, net of tax 28 13 12

Transferred to share of reserves in associates and joint ventures (6) – –

Balance at the end of the period(2) (142) (107) (38)

Share of reserves in associates and joint ventures

Balance at the beginning of the period (30) (15) 2

Share of other comprehensive losses of associates 
and joint ventures during the period, net of tax (44) (15) (17)

Transferred from cash flow hedging reserve 6 – –

Balance at the end of the period (68) (30) (15)

Total reserves at the end of the period 1,927 1,773 1,567

(1)	 Share based payment capital reduction reserve represents the capital distribution attributable to all the unvested MEREP awards on the disposal of the  
Sydney Airport. At the time of distribution, the reserve was created which will be transferred to ordinary share capital on vesting of the MEREP awards.

(2)	 Includes ($2) million (31 March 2019: ($5) million; 30 September 2018: ($5) million) relating to the foreign currency basis spread of financial instruments that  
have been excluded from the hedge designation.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 20
Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests continued

(ii) Retained earnings

Balance at the beginning of the period 9,807 8,849 8,651

Change on initial application of AASB 16, net of tax (49) – –

Restated balance 9,758 8,849 8,651

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of MGL 1,457 1,672 1,310

Dividends paid on ordinary share capital and exchangeable shares  
(Note 5) (1,224) (730) (1,089)

Loss on change in ownership interest (2) (2) (11)

Fair value changes attributable to own credit risk on debt classified 
as DFVTPL, net of tax (20) 18 (12)

Balance at the end of the period 9,969 9,807 8,849

(iii) Non-controlling interests 

Macquarie Income Securities(1)

4,000,000 MIS of $100 each 400 400 400

Less: transaction costs for original placement (9) (9) (9)

Total Macquarie Income Securities 391 391 391

Other non-controlling interests(2)

Share capital and partnership interests 416 205 190

Reserves (45) 56 (3)

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings (67) (49) 21

Total other non-controlling interests 304 212 208

Total non-controlling interests 695 603 599

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Distributions to Macquarie Income Securities(3)

Macquarie Income Securities

Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided for) 4 5 4

Distributions provided for 2 3 3

Total distributions paid or provided for 6 8 7

(1)	 The MIS was issued by MBL, a subsidiary of MGL, and was listed for trading on the ASX on 19 October 1999. Whilst the MIS is a perpetual investment with 
no conversion rights, it became redeemable (in whole or in part) at MBL’s discretion on 19 November 2004. Interest is paid quarterly at a floating rate of BBSW 
plus 1.7% per annum (31 March 2019: 1.7% per annum; 30 September 2018: 1.7% per annum). Payment of interest to holders is subject to certain conditions, 
including the profitability of MBL.

(2)	 Other non-controlling interests represents equity in subsidiaries that is not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent company. As such, it is ineligible 
to absorb losses arising elsewhere within the Consolidated Entity.

(3)	 The distributions are reflected as ‘Profit attributable to non-controlling interests’ in the consolidated income statement and as part of the ‘Dividends and 
distributions paid or provided for’ in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 21 
Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

(i) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period are reflected in the related items in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as follows:

Cash and bank balances(1),(2) 9,088 9,488 9,307

Trading assets(3) 101 784 763

Financial investments(4),(5) 624 792 394

Margin money(6) 2,676 2,816 3,600

Held for sale assets(7) 11 248 42

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12,500 14,128 14,106

(1)	 Cash and bank balances includes cash at bank, overnight cash at bank and other loans to banks. Cash and bank balances includes $3,134 million  
(half-year to 31 March 2019: $3,205 million, half-year to 30 September 2018: $2,941 million) of certain funds received from clients, which are segregated  
from the Consolidated Entity’s own funds and thus restricted from use.

(2)	 Cash and bank balances also includes $444 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $361 million, half-year to 30 September 2018: $561 million) of balances held 
by consolidated special purpose vehicles that are restricted from use, balances required to be maintained with central banks and other regulatory authorities, 
balances dedicated to servicing certain debt obligations and other similarly restricted balances.

(3)	 Trading assets includes certificates of deposit, bank bills, treasury notes and other short-term debt securities with a maturity of three months or less from 
the date of acquisition. As at 30 September 2019, no amounts within the trading assets related to certain funds received from clients, which are segregated 
from the Consolidated Entity’s own funds and thus restricted from use (half-year to 31 March 2019: $702 million, half-year to 30 September 2018: $690 million).

(4)	 Financial investments also includes short-term debt securities with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Financial investment also 
includes $266 million (half-year to 31 March 2019: $336 million, half-year to 30 September 2018: $103 million) of balances held in countries where remittance 
of cash outside of the country is restricted.

(5)	 Financial investments have been adjusted to exclude certain liquid financial investments with a residual maturity of three months or less at the balance date but 
whose maturity exceeded three months at the date of acquisition. Comparatives have been updated to conform to current period presentation.

(6)	 Margin money represents certain cash collateral placed with financial institution counterparties in respect of derivative positions. Of these balances, 
$1,498 million (31 March 2019: $1,388 million, 30 September 2018: $1,317 million) relates to funds received from clients, which are segregated from the 
Consolidated Entity’s own funds and thus restricted from use.

(7)	 Includes cash and cash equivalents held as a part of assets of disposal groups held for sale.
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Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19(1) 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 21
Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows continued

(ii) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows generated from/(utilised in) operating activities

Profit after income tax 1,464 1,657 1,331

Adjustments to profit after income tax:

Depreciation and amortisation 828 793 727

Unrealised foreign exchange and fair value movement on assets 
and liabilities 468 361 713

ECL and impairment charges 153 483 76

Investment income and gain on sale of operating lease assets and 
other non-financial assets (687) (1,610) (479)

Share-based payments expense 336 264 227

Share of net losses/(profits) of associates and joint ventures 49 63 (7)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Change in carrying values of associates due to dividends received 130 110 109

Change in interest, fee and commission receivable and payable (483) (387) (64)

Change in tax balances (238) (209) (73)

Change in debtors, prepayments, accrued charges and creditors (747) 1,933 (402)

Change in net trading assets and liabilities and net derivative 
financial instruments(2) (3,917) (5,059) 2,204

Change in other assets and liabilities (232) 83 (209)

Change in loan assets (6,338) (1,104) (3,101)

Change in operating lease assets (328) (1,116) (557)

Change in deposits 2,802 3,499 4,218

Change in borrowings 4,924 788 3,887

Change in debt issued 4,078 (2,309) (6,076)

Net cash flows generated from/(utilised in) operating activities 2,262 (1,760) 2,524

(iii) Cash flows from liabilities arising from financing activities

During the half-year ended 30 September 2018, the Consolidated Entity raised $1,000 million through the issue of MCN3 to replace the 
$600 million MCN that the Consolidated Entity redeemed on 7 June 2018. The statement of cash flow excludes a non cash movement 
of $330 million relating to MCN3 issued on exercise of the option by MCN holders to reinvest in MCN3.

(1)	 September 2019 financial results reflect the adoption of AASB 16 on 1 April 2019. As permitted by AASB 16, the Consolidated Entity has not restated the 
comparative financial reporting periods. Refer Note 1 for the impact on initial adoption of AASB 16.

(2)	 Includes unrealised foreign exchange movements relating to derivatives which largely offsets the unrealised foreign exchange movements on financial assets 
and liabilities.

http://macquarie.com


60 Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries  2020 Interim Report macquarie.com

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

As at As at As at
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Note 22 
Contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of:

Letters of credit 1,185 1,085 893

Guarantees 593 213 182

Indemnities 556 469 209

Performance related contingents 296 291 245

Total contingent liabilities(1),(2) 2,630 2,058 1,529

Commitments exist in respect of:

Undrawn credit facilities and securities commitments(3),(4),(5),(6) 14,791 10,518 10,769

Property, plant and equipment and other assets(7),(8) 2,114 3,472 3,587

Total commitments 16,905 13,990 14,356

Total contingent liabilities and commitments 19,535 16,048 15,885

(1)	 Contingent liabilities exist in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the conduct of the Consolidated Entity’s business. In the event 
it is likely that economic outflow of resources is probable and can be reliably measured then a liability is recognised, and the exposure is excluded from the 
contingent liabilities above. Other than those recognised liabilities, the Consolidated Entity is currently not engaged in any litigation or claim which is likely to have 
a material adverse effect on the Consolidated Entity’s business, financial condition or performance.

(2)	 It is not practicable to ascertain the timing of any outflow and the possibility of any reimbursement related to these contingent liabilities.
(3)	 Undrawn credit facilities are irrevocably extended to clients. These amounts include fully or partially undrawn commitments that are legally binding and cannot be 

unconditionally cancelled by the Consolidated Entity. Securities underwriting includes firm commitments to underwrite debt and equity securities issuances and 
private equity commitments.

(4)	 Includes $927 million (31 March 2019: $815 million; 30 September 2018: $826 million) in undrawn facilities where the loan and further commitment will be 
assigned to a third-party post first drawdown.

(5)	 Includes $1,017 million (31 March 2019: $1,038 million; 30 September 2018: $1,092 million) for certain contractually irrevocable mortgage related facilities which 
have been reassessed to be included in the comparative previous reporting periods.

(6)	 Includes $720 million of equity commitment to an associate of the Consolidated Entity.
(7)	 Includes $261 million of commitment related to the acquisition of management rights in a mutual fund from Foresters Financial Holding Company. The commitment 

was settled subsequent to 30 September 2019.
(8)	 Previous period (31 March 2019: $1,475 million; 30 September 2018: $1,450 million) includes commitments for the purchase of assets relating to the MAF 

business which was deconsolidated during the current period. Refer Note 25 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses for details.

http://macquarie.com


macquarie.com Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries  2020 Interim Report 61

Directors’ Report Financial Report

Note 23
Measurement categories of financial instruments

The following table contains information relating to the measurement categories of financial instruments of the Consolidated Entity. 
The methods and significant assumptions that have been applied in determining the fair values of financial instruments are disclosed 
in Note 24 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 
OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 

CARRIED ATFAIR VALUE

Amortised 
cost

Non- 
financial 

instruments

Statement 
of financial 

position 
totalHFT DFVTPL FVTPL FVOCI

Fair  
value

Amortised 
cost

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Cash and bank balances – – – – 9,579 – 9,579 – 9,579
Cash collateral on securities borrowed 
and reverse repurchase agreements – – 19,139 – 11,062 – 30,201 19,139 11,062
Trading assets(1) 24,230 – – – – – 24,230 24,230 –
Margin money and settlement assets – – 2,355 – 17,957 – 20,312 2,355 17,957
Derivative assets(2) 18,221 – – – – – 18,221 18,221 –
Financial investments

Equity – – 1,313 – – – 1,313 1,313 –
Debt – – 911 5,713 – – 6,624 6,624 –

Held for sale assets(3) – – 36 8 15 549 608 44 15
Other assets(3) – 140 426 – 1,804 3,255 5,625 566 1,804
Loan assets(4) – 11 1,329 609 83,117 – 85,066 1,949 83,630
Property, plant and equipment – – – – – 5,471 5,471 – –
Interest in associates and joint ventures

Equity interests – – – – – 7,148 7,148 – –
Loans to associates and joint 
ventures(4) – – 39 207 1,106 – 1,352 246 1,108

Intangible assets – – – – – 2,666 2,666 – –
Deferred tax assets – – – – – 1,079 1,079 – –
Total assets 42,451 151 25,548 6,537 124,640 20,168 219,495 74,687 125,155
Liabilities
Cash collateral on securities lent and 
repurchase agreements – 3,023 – – 2,780 – 5,803 3,023 2,780
Trading liabilities 8,146 – – – – – 8,146 8,146 –
Margin money and settlement liabilities – – – – 26,683 – 26,683 – 26,683
Derivative liabilities(2) 14,514 – – – – – 14,514 14,514 –
Deposits – – – – 59,042 – 59,042 – 59,096
Held for sale liabilities(5) – – – – 67 27 94 – 67
Other liabilities(5) – 456 – – 2,299 3,907 6,662 456 1,306
Borrowings – – – – 14,626 – 14,626 – 14,687
Debt issued(4) – 2,208 – – 53,862 – 56,070 2,208 54,776
Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – 297 297 – –
Loan capital(4) – – – – 7,246 – 7,246 – 7,492
Total liabilities 22,660 5,687 – – 166,605 4,231 199,183 28,347 166,887

(1)	 Includes commodities carried at fair value which are held for trading purposes.
(2)	 All derivatives, including those held for hedging purposes, are classified as HFT.
(3)	 Non-financial assets primarily represent non-financial assets of disposal groups and equity interests in associates and joint ventures that have been classified 

as held for sale, fee related contract assets, prepayments, tax receivable, inventory held for sale and investment property.
(4)	 Items measured at amortised cost includes, where applicable, hedge accounting adjustments for the designated hedged risks.
(5)	 Non-financial liabilities primarily represent non-financial liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale, accrued charges, employee related provisions, 

retained director profit share, tax payable, income received in advance, aircraft and rail maintenance liabilities. The fair value of other liabilities excludes the fair 
value of lease liabilities.
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Note 23
Measurement categories of financial instruments continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 
OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 

CARRIED ATFAIR VALUE
Statement 
of financial 

position 
totalHFT DFVTPL FVTPL FVOCI

Amortised 
cost

Non- 
financial 

instruments
Fair  

value
Amortised 

cost
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Cash and bank balances – – – – 9,787 – 9,787 – 9,787

Cash collateral on securities borrowed 
and reverse repurchase agreements – – 19,147 – 10,201 – 29,348 19,147 10,201

Trading assets(1) 18,670 – – – – – 18,670 18,670 –

Margin money and settlement assets – – 3,747 – 15,364 – 19,111 3,747 15,364

Derivative assets(2) 14,457 – – – – – 14,457 14,457 –

Financial investments

Equity – – 1,311 – – – 1,311 1,311 –

Debt – – 633 5,217 – – 5,850 5,850 –

Held for sale assets(3) – – – 68 696 8,259 9,023 68 696

Other assets(3) – 80 439 – 2,008 2,642 5,169 519 2,008

Loan assets(4) – 190 374 568 77,342 – 78,474 1,132 77,607

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – 4,701 4,701 – –

Interest in associates and joint ventures

Equity interests – – – – – 3,688 3,688 – –

Loans to associates and joint ventures(4) – – 35 173 323 – 531 208 323

Intangible assets – – – – – 2,031 2,031 – –

Deferred tax assets – – – – – 1,031 1,031 – –

Total assets 33,127 270 25,686 6,026 115,721 22,352 203,182 65,109 115,986

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and 
repurchase agreements – 1,732 – – 3,106 – 4,838 1,732 3,106

Trading liabilities 8,108 – – – – – 8,108 8,108 –

Margin money and settlement liabilities – – – – 22,576 – 22,576 – 22,576

Derivative liabilities(2) 12,666 – – – – – 12,666 12,666 –

Deposits – – – – 56,191 – 56,191 – 56,247

Held for sale liabilities(5) – – – – 5,379 1,430 6,809 – 5,379

Other liabilities(5) – 565 – – 1,495 4,676 6,736 565 1,495

Borrowings – – –  – 9,318 – 9,318 – 9,353

Debt issued(4) – 2,405 – – 47,783 – 50,188 2,405 48,094

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – 425 425 – –

Loan capital(4) – – – – 6,963 – 6,963 – 7,094

Total liabilities 20,774 4,702 – – 152,811 6,531 184,818 25,476 153,344

(1)	 Includes commodities carried at fair value which are held for trading purposes.
(2)	 All derivatives, including those held for hedging purposes, are classified as HFT.
(3)	 Non-financial assets primarily represent non-financial assets of disposal groups and equity interests in associates and joint ventures that have been classified as 

held for sale, fee related contract assets, prepayments, tax receivables, inventory held for sale and investment property.
(4)	 Items measured at amortised cost includes, where applicable, hedge accounting adjustments for the designated hedged risks.
(5)	 Non-financial liabilities primarily represent non-financial liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale, accrued charges, employee related provisions, 

retained director profit share, tax payable, income received in advance, aircraft and rail maintenance liabilities. The fair value of other liabilities excludes the fair 
value of lease liabilities.
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Note 23
Measurement categories of financial instruments continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE 
OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 

CARRIED ATFAIR VALUE
Statement 
of financial 

position 
totalHFT DFVTPL FVTPL FVOCI

Amortised 
cost

Non- 
financial 

instruments
Fair  

value
Amortised 

cost
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Cash and bank balances – – – – 9,625 – 9,625 – 9,625

Cash collateral on securities borrowed 
and reverse repurchase agreements – – 16,273 – 11,564 – 27,837 16,273 11,564

Trading assets(1) 20,158 – – – – – 20,158 20,158 –

Margin money and settlement assets – – 2,172 – 18,531 – 20,703 2,172 18,531

Derivative assets(2) 18,115 – – – – – 18,115 18,115 –

Financial investments

Equity – – 1,216 – – – 1,216 1,216 –

Debt – 73 413 4,931 – – 5,417 5,417 –

Held for sale assets(3) - - - 203 109 1,841 2,153 203 109

Other assets(3) - 128 622 - 2,180 2,318 5,248 750 2,180

Loan assets(4) – 234 920 714 75,085 – 76,953 1,868 75,287

Property, plant and equipment – – – – – 11,361 11,361 – –

Interest in associates and joint ventures

Equity interests – – – – – 3,789 3,789 – –

Loans to associates and joint ventures(4) – – 18 199 137 – 354 217 138

Intangible assets – – – – – 1,894 1,894 – –

Deferred tax assets – – – – – 775 775 – –

Total assets 38,273 435 21,634 6,047 117,231 21,978 205,598 66,389 117,434

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and 
repurchase agreements – 2,329 – – 4,587 – 6,916 2,329 4,587

Trading liabilities 7,197 – – – – – 7,197 7,197 –

Margin money and settlement liabilities – – – – 24,902 – 24,902 – 24,902

Derivative liabilities(2) 18,205 – – – – – 18,205 18,205 –

Deposits – – – – 52,620 – 52,620 – 52,647

Held for sale liabilities(5) – – – – 143 361 504 – 143

Other liabilities(5) – 711 – – 1,489 4,211 6,411 711 1,489

Borrowings – – – – 13,336 –  13,336 –  13,364

Debt issued(4) – 2,154 – – 49,511 – 51,665 2,154 49,834

Deferred tax liabilities – – – – – 800 800 – –

Loan capital(4) – – – – 5,883 – 5,883 – 6,062

Total liabilities 25,402 5,194 – – 152,471 5,372 188,439 30,596 153,028

(1)	 Includes commodities carried at fair value which are held for trading purposes.
(2)	 All derivatives, including those held for hedging purposes, are classified as HFT.
(3)	 Non-financial assets primarily represent non-financial assets of disposal groups and equity interests in associates and joint ventures that have been classified as 

held for sale, fee related contract assets, prepayments, tax receivables, inventory held for sale and investment property.
(4)	 Items measured at amortised cost includes, where applicable, hedge accounting adjustments for the designated hedged risks.
(5)	 Non-financial liabilities primarily represent non-financial liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale, accrued charges, employee related provisions, 

retained director profit share, tax payable, income received in advance, aircraft and rail maintenance liabilities. The fair value of other liabilities excludes the fair 
value of lease liabilities.
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Note 24 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value reflects the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

Quoted prices or rates are used to determine fair value where 
an active market exists. If the market for a financial instrument is 
not active, fair values are estimated using present value or other 
valuation techniques, using inputs based on market conditions 
prevailing on the measurement date.

The values derived from applying these techniques are affected by 
the choice of valuation model used and the underlying assumptions 
made regarding inputs such as timing and amounts of future cash 
flows, discount rates, credit risk, volatility and correlation.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are categorised 
in their entirety, in accordance with the levels of the fair value 
hierarchy as outlined below:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

The appropriate level for an instrument is determined on the 
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the use of the price 
within the bid-offer spread that is most representative of fair value.

Valuation systems will typically generate mid-market prices. 
The bid-offer adjustment reflects the extent to which bid-offer 
costs would be incurred if substantially all residual net portfolio 
market risks were closed using available hedging instruments.

The fair values calculated for financial instruments which are 
carried in the statement of financial position at amortised cost 
are for disclosure purposes only. The following methods and 
assumptions applied to derive these fair values can require 
significant judgement by management and therefore may not 
necessarily be comparable to other financial institutions.
–– the fair values of liquid assets and other instruments maturing 

within three months are approximate to their carrying amounts. 
This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short-term 
elements of all other financial assets and financial liabilities

–– the fair value of demand deposits with no fixed maturity 
approximates their carrying amount as they are either 
short-term in nature or are payable on demand

–– the fair values of variable rate financial instruments, including 
cash collateral on securities borrowed/cash collateral on 
securities lent and repurchase agreements approximates 
their carrying amounts. The fair value of all loan assets and 
debt liabilities carried at amortised cost, is determined with 
reference to changes in credit markets as well as interest rates

–– the fair value of term deposits is estimated by a reference to the 
current market rates offered on similar deposits appropriate to 
the term of the deposits

–– the fair value of fixed rate loans and debt investments carried 
at amortised cost is estimated by reference to current market 
rates offered on similar loans and the credit worthiness of 
the borrower

–– the fair value of debt issued, and loan capital issued at 
amortised cost is based on market prices where available. 
Where market prices are not available the fair value is based 
on discounted cash flows using rates appropriate to the term 
and incorporates changes in the Consolidated Entity’s own 
credit spread

–– substantially all of the Consolidated Entity’s commitments 
to extend credit are at variable rates. As such, there is no 
significant exposure to fair value fluctuations resulting from 
interest rate movements relating to these commitments.

The following methods and significant assumptions have been 
applied in determining the fair values of financial instruments 
which are measured at fair value:
–– trading assets and liabilities, derivative financial instruments 

and other transactions undertaken for trading purposes are 
measured at fair value by reference to quoted market prices 
where available (for example listed securities). If quoted market 
prices are not available, then fair values are estimated on the 
basis of pricing models or other recognised valuation techniques

–– repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, being 
collateralised financing arrangements, are measured at 
fair value with reference to the securities which are held or 
provided as the collateral for the financing agreement

–– financial investments at FVOCI and FVTPL are measured at fair 
value by reference to quoted prices in active markets where 
available (for example listed securities). If quoted market prices 
are not available, the fair values are estimated on the basis of 
pricing models or other recognised valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of market prices and observable market 
inputs. Unrealised gains and losses, excluding impairment 
write-downs on debt instruments on FVOCI assets, are 
recorded in the FVOCI reserve in equity until the asset is sold, 
collected or otherwise disposed of

–– fair values of fixed rate loans classified as at FVTPL and 
FVOCI and issued debt classified as DFVTPL are estimated by 
reference to current market rates offered on similar loans and 
issued debt

–– for financial assets carried at fair value, in order to measure 
counterparty credit risk, a Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) 
is incorporated into the valuation. The CVA is calculated at 
a counterparty level taking into account all exposures to 
that counterparty
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

–– for financial liabilities carried at fair value, in order to measure 
the Consolidated Entity’s own credit risk, a Debit Valuation 
Adjustment (DVA) is incorporated into the valuations

–– the Consolidated Entity has incorporated market implied 
funding costs for uncollateralised derivative positions as a 
Funding Valuation Adjustment (FVA). FVA is determined by 
calculating the net expected exposures at a counterparty 
level and applying the Consolidated Entity’s internal Treasury 
lending rates as an input into the calculation. The approach 
takes into account the PD of each counterparty, as well as any 
mandatory break clauses.

Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, 
they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel 
independent of the area that created them. All models are certified 
before they are used, and models are calibrated periodically to 
test that outputs reflect prices from observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument or other available observable 
market data.

To the extent possible, models use only observable market data 
(for example OTC derivatives), however management is required 
to make assumptions for certain inputs that are not supported by 
prices from observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument such as volatility and correlation.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

The following table summarises the levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Cash and bank balances 9,579 – – 9,579

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements – 11,062 – 11,062

Margin money and settlement assets 7,281 10,676 – 17,957

Held for sale and other assets – 1,819 – 1,819

Loan assets – 6,894 76,736 83,630

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 1,108 1,108

Total assets 16,860 30,451 77,844 125,155

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements – 2,780 – 2,780

Margin money and settlement liabilities 15,694 10,989 – 26,683

Deposits 46,455 12,641 – 59,096

Held for sale and other liabilities(1) – 1,373 – 1,373

Borrowings 185 13,772 730 14,687

Debt issued – 46,471 8,305 54,776

Loan capital 3,034 4,458 – 7,492

Total liabilities 65,368 92,484 9,035 166,887

Assets AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Cash and bank balances 9,787 – – 9,787

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements – 10,201 – 10,201

Margin money and settlement assets 5,611 9,753 – 15,364

Held for sale and other assets – 2,704 – 2,704

Loan assets – 5,993 71,614 77,607

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 323 323

Total assets 15,398 28,651 71,937 115,986

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements – 3,106 – 3,106

Margin money and settlement liabilities 14,411 8,165 – 22,576

Deposits 42,910 13,337 – 56,247

Held for sale and other liabilities – 1,365 5,509 6,874

Borrowings 625 8,322 406 9,353

Debt issued – 43,098 4,996 48,094

Loan capital 2,944 4,150 – 7,094

Total liabilities 60,890 81,543 10,911 153,344

(1)	 The fair value of other liabilities excludes the fair value of lease liabilities.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Cash and bank balances 9,625 – – 9,625

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements – 11,564 – 11,564

Margin money and settlement assets 7,127 11,404 – 18,531

Held for sale and other assets – 2,289 – 2,289

Loan assets – 5,757 69,530 75,287

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 138 138

Total assets 16,752 31,014 69,668 117,434

Liabilities

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements – 4,587 – 4,587

Margin money and settlement liabilities 13,551 11,351 – 24,902

Deposits 42,660 9,987 – 52,647

Held for sale and other liabilities – 1,632 – 1,632

Borrowings – 7,894 5,470 13,364

Debt issued – 45,442 4,392 49,834

Loan capital 2,005 4,057 – 6,062

Total liabilities 58,216 84,950 9,862 153,028
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For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued

Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

The following table summarises the levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Reverse repurchase agreements – 19,139 – 19,139

Trading assets(1) 16,529 7,066 635 24,230

Margin money and settlement assets 1,585 770 – 2,355

Derivative assets 210 17,384 627 18,221

Financial investments 649 6,002 1,286 7,937

Held for sale and other assets 10 550 50 610

Loan assets – 1,383 566 1,949

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 246 246

Total assets 18,983 52,294 3,410 74,687

Liabilities

Repurchase agreements – 3,023 – 3,023

Trading liabilities 6,740 1,406 – 8,146

Derivative liabilities 416 13,774 324 14,514

Held for sale and other liabilities 3 450 3 456

Debt issued – 2,208 – 2,208

Total liabilities 7,159 20,861 327 28,347

Assets AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Reverse repurchase agreements – 19,147 – 19,147

Trading assets(1) 13,045 5,400 225 18,670

Margin money and settlement assets 1,547 2,200 – 3,747

Derivative assets 248 13,638 571 14,457

Financial investments 486 5,173 1,502 7,161

Held for sale and other assets 9 481 97 587

Loan assets – 511 621 1,132

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 208 208

Total assets 15,335 46,550 3,224 65,109

Liabilities

Repurchase agreements – 1,732 – 1,732

Trading liabilities 6,790 1,318 – 8,108

Derivative liabilities 329 12,004 333 12,666

Held for sale and other liabilities 41 524 – 565

Debt issued – 2,405 – 2,405

Total liabilities 7,160 17,983 333 25,476

(1)	 Includes commodities carried at fair value which are held for trading purposes.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Assets AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Reverse repurchase agreements – 16,273 – 16,273

Trading assets(1) 14,343 5,500 315 20,158

Margin money and settlement assets 1,317 855 – 2,172

Derivative assets 876 16,624 615 18,115

Financial investments 578 4,589 1,466 6,633

Held for sale and other assets 32 716 205 953

Loan assets – 1,167 701 1,868

Loans to associates and joint ventures – – 217 217

Total assets 17,146 45,724 3,519 66,389

Liabilities

Repurchase agreements – 2,329 – 2,329

Trading liabilities 5,705 1,492 – 7,197

Derivatives liabilities 1,125 16,699 381 18,205

Held for sale and other liabilities – 710 1 711

Debt issued – 2,148 6 2,154

Total liabilities 6,830 23,378 388 30,596

During the current period, the Consolidated Entity reclassified $2,601 million (31 March 2019: $3,029 million; 30 September 2018: 
$2,697 million) representing certain bonds and bank bills (financial investments) from Level 1 to Level 2 following a reassessment 
of valuation inputs. Comparative information has been updated to conform to the current period presentation.

(1)	 Includes commodities carried at fair value which are held for trading purposes.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The following table summarises the movements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the financial instruments measured at fair value.

Trading assets
Financial 

investments

Held for sale 
and other 

assets Loan assets
Loans to associates 

and joint ventures
Held for sale and 

other liabilities Debt issued

Derivative financial 
instruments  

(net replacement values)(1) Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 213 1,039 173 714 204 (1) (6) 301 2,637

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions 93 430 29 287 41 – – 54 934

Sales, settlements and repayments (53) (233) – (306) (6) – – (72) (670)

Transfers into Level 3(2) 46 157 – – – – – 2 205

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (2) (59) – – (28) – – 12 (77)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) 18 131 3 9 18 – – (63) 116

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – 1 – (3) (12) – – – (14)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 315 1,466 205 701 217 (1) (6) 234 3,131

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statements for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) 17 13 3 9 18 – – (64) (4)

Balance as at 1 Oct 2018 315 1,466 205 701 217 (1) (6) 234 3,131

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions – 231 54 135 64 1 6 (22) 469

Sales, settlements and repayments (19) (125) (237) (180) (44) – – (3) (608)

Transfers into Level 3(2) – – – – – – – 8 8

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (45) (28) – – (8) – – – (81)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) (26) 31 75 (27) 2 – – 21 76

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – (73) – (8) (23) – – – (104)

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 225 1,502 97 621 208 – – 238 2,891

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statement for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) (11) 34 (2) (3) (8) – – 22 32

Balance as at 1 Apr 2019 225 1,502 97 621 208 – – 238 2,891

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions 245 119 44 217 105 (3) – 17 744

Sales, settlements and repayments (36) (317) (71) (164) (33) – – (23) (644)

Transfers into Level 3(2) 212 66 7 – – – – 21 306

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (35) (214) (45) (113) (6) – – (55) (468)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) 24 110 18 36 (23) – – 105 270

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – 20 – (31) (5) – – – (16)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 635 1,286 50 566 246 (3) – 303 3,083

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statement for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) 24 77 4 30 (23) – – 105 217

(1)	 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $627 million (31 March 2019: 
$571 million; 30 September 2018: $615 million) and derivative liabilities are $324 million (31 March 2019: $333 million; 30 September 2018: $381 million).

(2)	 Assets and liabilities transferred into or out of Level 3 are presented as if those assets or liabilities had been transferred at the beginning of the period.
(3)	 The Consolidated Entity employs various hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. Such techniques may include the 

purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified as Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 
presented in the table above do not include the related realised or unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Level 1 
and/or 2.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The following table summarises the movements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the financial instruments measured at fair value.

Trading assets
Financial 

investments

Held for sale 
and other 

assets Loan assets
Loans to associates 

and joint ventures
Held for sale and 

other liabilities Debt issued

Derivative financial 
instruments  

(net replacement values)(1) Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Balance as at 1 Apr 2018 213 1,039 173 714 204 (1) (6) 301 2,637

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions 93 430 29 287 41 – – 54 934

Sales, settlements and repayments (53) (233) – (306) (6) – – (72) (670)

Transfers into Level 3(2) 46 157 – – – – – 2 205

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (2) (59) – – (28) – – 12 (77)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) 18 131 3 9 18 – – (63) 116

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – 1 – (3) (12) – – – (14)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2018 315 1,466 205 701 217 (1) (6) 234 3,131

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statements for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) 17 13 3 9 18 – – (64) (4)

Balance as at 1 Oct 2018 315 1,466 205 701 217 (1) (6) 234 3,131

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions – 231 54 135 64 1 6 (22) 469

Sales, settlements and repayments (19) (125) (237) (180) (44) – – (3) (608)

Transfers into Level 3(2) – – – – – – – 8 8

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (45) (28) – – (8) – – – (81)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) (26) 31 75 (27) 2 – – 21 76

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – (73) – (8) (23) – – – (104)

Balance as at 31 Mar 2019 225 1,502 97 621 208 – – 238 2,891

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statement for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) (11) 34 (2) (3) (8) – – 22 32

Balance as at 1 Apr 2019 225 1,502 97 621 208 – – 238 2,891

Purchases, originations, issuances and other additions 245 119 44 217 105 (3) – 17 744

Sales, settlements and repayments (36) (317) (71) (164) (33) – – (23) (644)

Transfers into Level 3(2) 212 66 7 – – – – 21 306

Transfers out of Level 3(2) (35) (214) (45) (113) (6) – – (55) (468)

Fair value movements recognised in the income statement(3) 24 110 18 36 (23) – – 105 270

Fair value movements recognised in OCI(3) – 20 – (31) (5) – – – (16)

Balance as at 30 Sep 2019 635 1,286 50 566 246 (3) – 303 3,083

Fair value movements for the period included in the income statement for assets 
and liabilities held at the end of the period(3) 24 77 4 30 (23) – – 105 217

(1)	 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $627 million (31 March 2019: 
$571 million; 30 September 2018: $615 million) and derivative liabilities are $324 million (31 March 2019: $333 million; 30 September 2018: $381 million).

(2)	 Assets and liabilities transferred into or out of Level 3 are presented as if those assets or liabilities had been transferred at the beginning of the period.
(3)	 The Consolidated Entity employs various hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. Such techniques may include the 

purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified as Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 
presented in the table above do not include the related realised or unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Level 1 
and/or 2.

http://macquarie.com


72 Macquarie Group Limited and its subsidiaries  2020 Interim Report macquarie.com

Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
During the period, the Consolidated Entity did not have significant transfers between Level 1 and 2. Certain comparatives have been 
updated to conform to current period presentation.

Transfers into Level 3 were due to the lack of observable valuation inputs for certain securities and investments. Transfers out of Level 3 
were principally due to valuation inputs becoming observable during the period. Financial assets reclassified out of the fair value hierarchy 
disclosure due to recognition and measurement category changes or due to significant influence or control are also presented as transfers 
out of Level 3.

Unrecognised gains
For financial instruments measured at FVTPL, the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is its transaction price, unless its fair 
value is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 
technique for which variables include only data from observable markets. Where such alternative evidence exists, the Consolidated Entity 
recognises profit or loss immediately when the financial instrument is recognised (‘day 1 profit or loss’). When significant unobservable 
inputs are used to determine fair value, the day 1 profit or loss is deferred and is recognised in the income statement over the life of the 
transaction or when the inputs become observable. 

The table below summarises the deferral and recognition of profit or loss where a valuation technique has been applied for which not all 
inputs are observable in the market:

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Balance at the beginning of the period 185 174 178
Deferral on new transactions 91 52 19
Amounts recognised in the income statement during the period (50) (41) (23)
Balance at the end of the period 226 185 174

Sensitivity analysis of valuations using unobservable inputs
The table below shows the sensitivity to reasonably possible alternative assumptions, for Level 3 financial instruments whose fair values 
are determined in whole or in part using unobservable inputs, valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows based on assumptions 
by reference to historical company and industry experience. The impact of sensitivity of financial instruments which hedge the Level 3 
positions but are classified as Level 1 and 2 are not included in the below table.

FAVOURABLE CHANGES UNFAVOURABLE CHANGES

Profit or loss OCI Profit or loss OCI
$m $m $m $m

Product type AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Equity and equity-linked products 87 – (95) –
Commodities 113 – (112) –
Interest rate and other products 21 45 (21) (45)
Total 221 45 (228) (45)
Product type AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Equity and equity-linked products 68 – (71) –
Commodities 107 – (114) –
Interest rate and other products 24 54 (24) (54)
Total 199 54 (209) (54)
Product type AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Equity and equity-linked products 59 – (60) –
Commodities 68 – (56) –
Interest rate and other products 54 59 (54) (59)
Total 181 59 (170) (59)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the half-year ended 30 September 2019 continued
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Significant unobservable inputs
The following table contains information about the significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 valuations, and the valuation 
techniques used to measure the fair values of the instruments. The range of values represents the highest and lowest inputs used in the 
valuation techniques.

Therefore, the range does not reflect the level of uncertainty regarding a particular input, but rather the different underlying characteristics 
of the relevant assets and liabilities.

RANGE OF INPUTS

Assets Liabilities Valuation technique(s)

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Minimum  
value

Maximum 
value

$m $m $m $m

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Equity and equity-linked products 781 – Discounted cash flows Discount rate 5.0% 10.7%

Pricing model Earnings multiple 1.5x 14.9x

Market comparability Price in %(1)

Commodities 1,055 319 Pricing model Volatility 0.0% 100.0%

Interest rate and other products 1,574 8 Discounted cash flows Discount rate(2)

Pricing model Correlation 0.0% 100.0%

Market comparability Price in %(1)

Total 3,410 327

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Equity and equity-linked products 728 2 Discounted cash flows Discount rate 5.0% 11.0%

Pricing model Earnings multiple 1x 16x

– – Market comparability Price in %(1)

Commodities 629 328 Pricing model Volatility 0.0% 176.4%

Interest rate and other products 1,867 3 Discounted cash flows Discount rate(2)

Pricing model Correlation 0.0% 100.0%

Market comparability Price in %(1)

Total 3,224 333

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Equity and equity-linked products 664 6 Discounted cash flows Discount rate 5.0% 11.0%

Pricing model Earnings multiple 1.7x 17.5x

Market comparability Price in %(1)

Commodities 645 370 Pricing model Volatility 5.1% 126.7%

Interest rate and other products 2,210 12 Discounted cash flows Discount rate(2)

Pricing model Correlation 0.0% 102.5%

Market comparability Price in %(1)

Total 3,519 388

(1)	 The range of inputs relating to market comparability has not been disclosed as the diverse nature of the underlying investments results in a wide range of inputs.
(2)	 The range of inputs relating to discounted cash flows has not been disclosed as the diverse nature of the underlying products results in a wide range of inputs.
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Note 24
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued

Correlation
Correlation is a measure of the relationship between the 
movements of two variables (i.e. how the change in one variable 
influences a change in the other variable). Correlation is a key 
input of derivatives with more than one underlying and is generally 
used to value hybrid and exotic instruments.

Volatility
Volatility is a measure of the variability or uncertainty in returns 
for a given derivative underlying. It represents an estimate of how 
much a particular underlying instrument, parameter or index will 
change in value over time. Volatility is an input in the valuation of 
derivatives containing optionality. Volatility and skew are impacted 
by the underlying risk, term and strike price of a derivative.

Inputs for unlisted equity securities (discount rates, 
earnings multiples)
Unlisted equity instruments are generally valued based on 
the earnings multiples of comparable companies. Significant 
unobservable inputs may include earnings multiples, discount 
rates and forecast earnings of the investee entities.
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Note 25 
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses

Significant acquisition of entities or businesses:
There were no individual significant entities or businesses where control was gained during the period ended 30 September 2019.

Other entities or businesses acquired:
Premier Technical Services Group, The Dovel Group, LLC, Ace Info Solutions LLC, Kisielice Wind Limited, Lake Wind AB and Trisol 81 S.r.l.

The impact of the acquisitions on the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and earnings is immaterial.

The purchase price allocation for the business combinations are provisional as at 30 September 2019. 

During the half-year ended 31 March 2019, other entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to the acquisition of control were: 
American Alpha Master Fund, Savion LLC and Macquarie Emerging Markets Small Cap Fund.

During the half-year ended 30 September 2018, other entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to the acquisition of control were: 

ValueInvest Asset Management S.A., KGG Partners GmbH, GLL Real Estate Partners GmbH, Nuix Pty Limited, FTI Consulting Inc., 
Conergy Asia Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries.

Aggregate provisional details of the abovementioned entities and businesses acquired are as follows:

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Fair value of net assets acquired

Cash and bank balances 37 47 80

Other financial assets – 52 –

Held for sale and other assets 181 10 77

Property, plant and equipment 86 – 11

Intangible assets 211 119 384

Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities (405) (35) (162)

Non-controlling interests (19) (58) (45)

Total fair value of net assets acquired 91 135 345

Consideration

Cash consideration (net of transaction costs) 715 123 516

Deferred consideration – 5 69

Fair value of equity interest held before the acquisition date – 33 270

Total consideration (net of transaction costs) 715 161 855

Goodwill recognised on acquisition 624 26 510

Net cash flow

Cash consideration (715) (123) (516)

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 37 47 80

Net cash outflow (678)  (76) (436)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Note 25
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses continued

Significant disposal of entities or businesses:
There were no individual significant entities or businesses where control was lost during the period ended 30 September 2019.

Other disposal of entities:
On 1 August 2019, the Consolidated Entity disposed of 25% of its Macquarie AirFinance (MAF) business which was classified as held for 
sale as at 31 March 2019. This was achieved by contributing the net assets of the business to a newly formed joint venture along with a 
third-party investor. Rental income and other operating lease related charges up to the date of the disposal have been included under net 
operating lease income of the Consolidated Entity and adjusted in the carrying value of assets and liabilities of the disposal group. The 
Consolidated Entity has accounted for its 75% retained interest as an equity-accounted joint venture.

Other entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to the loss of control were:  
Energy S. LSIS, Achim Solar Power Co. Ltd, Aran Solar Company Limited, Suri Solar Company Limited, Sosu Solar Company Limited, 
Mir Solar Company Limited, Maru Solar Company Limited, Laon Solar Company Limited, Nuix Pty Ltd, Nuix North America Inc., Nuix 
USG Inc., Nuix Ireland Ltd, Nuix Technology UK Ltd, Nuix Pte. Ltd, Nuix Holding Pty Ltd, Nuix Philippines ROHQ, Dalmatia WtE EUR 
Topco Limited, LPC Venture I, LLC, Godo Kaisha Alpha Mega Solar Project No. 1, Godo Kaisha Alpha Mega Solar Project No. 2, Alchemy 
Telco Solutions Limited and American Alpha Master Fund.

During the half-year ended 31 March 2019, other entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to the loss of control were: 
Energetics Gas Ltd, Fuujin Power Ltd, Electrodes Holdings and its subsidiaries, Canadian Breaks Sponsor Co. LLC, UCITS Global Value 
Equity Fund, Macquarie Absolute Return Real Estate Fund.

During the half-year ended 30 September 2018, other entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to the loss of control were: 
ADL Software Pty Limited, Cadent Gas Plc, Lal Lal Wind Farms Fin Co Pty Limited, M Acquisition Sponsor II LLC, M Acquisition 
Company II Corp and Parachute Investments Limited.

Aggregate details of the entities or businesses disposed of are as follows:

Half-year to Half-year to Half-year to
30 Sep 19 31 Mar 19 30 Sep 18

$m $m $m

Carrying value of assets and liabilities
Cash and bank balances 74 67 1
Other financial assets – 13 –
Held for sale and other assets(1) 9,591 235 1,742
Property, plant and equipment 27 690 –
Interests in associates and joint ventures 44 151 –
Intangible assets 453 1 2
Held for sale, borrowings and other liabilities(1) (7,095) (583) (295)
Non-controlling interests (137) (5) (1,170)
Total carrying value of net assets 2,957 569 280
Consideration
Cash consideration (net of cost of disposal) 1,056 1,045 264
Consideration receivable 17 4 2
Fair value of investment retained 680 49 43
Interest acquired through contribution to the joint venture(2) 1,558 – –
Total consideration 3,311 1,098 309
Direct costs relating to disposal (4) (13) –
Net cash flow
Cash consideration 1,056 1,045 264
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of or deconsolidated(3) (1,110)  (67) (1)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow(4) (54) 978 263

(1)	 Held for sale assets disposed of primarily relate to cash and bank balances and aviation assets under operating lease and the held for sale liabilities primarily 
relate to the bank borrowings and maintenance liabilities.

(2)	 Refer Note 14 Interests in associates and joint ventures for details of the interest in the joint venture.
(3)	 Includes $1,036 million of cash and bank balances included under held for sale and other assets above. 
(4)	 Net cash outflow for the period ended 30 September 2019 includes $464 million of cash inflow, net of cash deconsolidated from the disposal of certain 

businesses and $518 million of cash outflow for cash deconsolidated, net of cash consideration for the disposal of certain businesses.
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Note 26
Events after the reporting date

There were no material events subsequent to 30 September 
2019 that have not been disclosed elsewhere in the 
financial statements.
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In the Directors’ opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements and notes set out on pages 19 to 77 are 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) including:
i.	 complying with the Australian Accounting Standards, and
ii.	 giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s 

financial position as at 30 September 2019 and 
performance for the half-year ended on that date, and

(b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that Macquarie Group 
Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of 
the Directors.

Peter Warne 
Independent Director and Chairman

Shemara Wikramanayake 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Sydney 
1 November 2019

Directors’ declaration
Macquarie Group Limited
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Report on the half-year financial report
We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report 
of Macquarie Group Limited (the Company) and the entities 
it controlled during the half-year (together the Consolidated 
Entity), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 September 2019, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated 
income statement for the half-year ended on that date, selected 
other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration.

Directors’ responsibility for the half-year 
financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year 
financial report based on our review. We conducted our review 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standard on Review 
Engagements ASRE 2410 Review of a Financial Report Performed 
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, in order to state whether, 
on the basis of the procedures described, we have become 
aware of any matter that makes us believe that the half-year 
financial report is not in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) including giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial position as at 30 September 2019 and its 
performance for the half-year ended on that date; and complying 
with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth). As the auditor of 
Macquarie Group Limited, ASRE 2410 requires that we comply 
with the ethical requirements relevant to the audit of the annual 
financial report. 

A review of a half-year financial report consists of making 
enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and 
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review 
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards 
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that 
we would become aware of all significant matters that might 
be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an 
audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our review, we have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Conclusion
Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become 
aware of any matter that makes us believe that the half-year 
financial report of Macquarie Group Limited is not in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) including:
(a)	 giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial 

position as at 30 September 2019 and of its performance for 
the half-year ended on that date;

(b)	 complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim 
Financial Reporting and the Corporations Regulations 
2001 (Cth).

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Kristin Stubbins 
Partner 

Sydney 
1 November 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability is limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s review report
To the members of Macquarie Group Limited
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The financial information for the full years ended 31 March 2011–2019 and half-year ended 30 September 2019 is based on the 
reported results using the Australian Accounting Standards that were effective and adopted by the Consolidated Entity at the reporting 
dates, which also comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB. Reporting periods have been restated only to the extent as required by the 
accounting standards. The financial reporting periods may hence not be fully comparable with one another as a result of changes in 
accounting standards’ requirements.

Financial years ended 31 March
First half 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Income statement ($m)

Net operating income 6,320 12,754 10,920 10,364 10,158 9,262 8,132 6,657 6,963 7,665

Total operating expenses (4,480) (8,887) (7,456) (7,260) (7,143) (6,740) (6,026) (5,252) (5,914) (6,394)

Operating profit before income tax 1,840 3,867 3,464 3,104 3,015 2,522 2,106 1,405 1,049 1,271

Income tax expense (376) (879) (883) (868) (927) (899) (827) (533) (287) (282)

Profit after income tax 1,464 2,988 2,581 2,236 2,088 1,623 1,279 872 762 989

Macquarie income securities distributions (6) (15) (14) (15) (16) (18) (18) (21) (26) (26)

Macquarie income preferred securities 
distributions – – – – (1) (5) (4) (4) (4) (4)

(Profit)/loss attributable to other  
non-controlling interests (1) 9 (10) (4) (8) 4 8 4 (2) (3)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 1,457 2,982 2,557 2,217 2,063 1,604 1,265 851 730 956

Statement of financial position ($m)

Total assets 219,495 203,182 191,325 182,877 196,755 187,976 153,904 144,748 153,626 157,568

Total liabilities 199,183 184,818 173,145 165,607 181,091 173,580 141,990 132,793 141,894 145,636

Net assets 20,312 18,364 18,180 17,270 15,664 14,396 11,914 11,955 11,732 11,932

Total loan assets 85,066 78,474 73,509 69,288 72,393 67,663 49,965 47,449 41,930 42,923

Impaired loan assets (net of provisions)(1) 1,641 1,674 351 547 418 594 365 368 357 340

Share information

Dividends per share (cents per share)

Interim 250 215 205 190 160 130 100 75 65 86

Final n/a 360 320 280 240 200 160 125 75 100

Special(2) – – – – – – 116 – – –

Total – 575 525 470 400 330 376 200 140 186

Basic EPS (cents per share) 430.1 883.3 758.2 657.6 619.2 502.3 383.6 251.2 210.1 282.5

Share price at reporting date ($) 131.08 129.42 102.90 90.20 66.09 76.67 57.93 37.15 29.08 36.60

Ordinary shares (million shares) 354.4 340.4 340.4 340.4 340.3 333.5 321.1 339.5 348.6 346.8

Market capitalisation as at reporting date 
(fully paid ordinary shares) ($m) 46,452 44,050 35,024 30,700 22,491 25,569 18,601 12,613 10,137 12,693

Net tangible assets per ordinary share ($) 47.83 46.21 45.12 42.74 41.23 38.19 31.71 29.94 28.12 28.91

Ratios (%)

Return on average ordinary 
shareholders’ funds 16.4 18.0 16.8 15.2 14.7 14.0 11.1 7.8 6.8 8.8

Ordinary dividend payout ratio 60.8 65.6 69.8 72.0 65.7 67.6 66.8 79.0 66.4 67.3

Expense/income ratio 70.9 69.7 68.3 70.1 70.3 72.8 74.1 78.9 84.9 83.4

Net loan losses as % of loan assets 
(excluding securitisation SPVs) 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.5 1.0 0.7 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.4

Assets under management ($b) 563.4 551.3 496.7 481.7 478.6 486.3 426.9 347.4 326.9 309.8

Staff numbers 15,704 15,602 14,810 13,925 14,660 14,373 14,180 13,905 14,519 15,791

(1)	 Represents net exposure in credit impaired loan assets as per Australian Accounting Standards for the period ended 30 September 2019 and 31 March 2019. 
For financial years ended 31 March 2011–2018, represents net exposure in impaired loan assets disclosed as per Australian regulatory authority requirements.

(2)	 The special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014 represented the special dividend component of the in-specie distribution of Sydney Airport stapled 
securities in January 2014. The total distribution including return of capital was 373 cents per share.

Ten year history
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